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Tourism Australia on Instagram. The photographs on the front and back cover of this year’s annual report
are from visitors who shared their holiday experiences with Tourism Australia’s Instagram account.
Instagram is an online photo-sharing, video-sharing and social networking platform. With over 380,000
photos shared by fans and industry across the globe, the account has become a key platform in Tourism
Australia’s digital marketing strategy.
Follow @Australia on Instagram and help show the world why there’s nothing like Australia.
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15 October 2013

Dear Minister,

The Hon. Andrew Robb AO, MP
Minister for Trade
and Investment
Parliament House
Canberra ACT 2600

I have pleasure in presenting the annual report of Tourism Australia,
for the reporting period 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2013. The report
has been prepared in accordance with section 39 of the Tourism
Australia Act 2004 and section 9 of the Commonwealth Authorities
and Companies Act 1997, and in accordance with the Finance
Minister’s Orders.
Yours sincerely,

Geoff Dixon
Chairman
Tourism Australia

Who
we are,
what
we do
Originally established in 1967 and later re-formed under the
Tourism Australia Act 2004, Tourism Australia is an Australian
Government statutory authority.
As Australia’s national tourism organisation, Tourism
Australia aims to increase international and domestic leisure
tourism, and international business events. It promotes
Australia as a compelling visitor destination.

Along with its predecessor, the Australian Tourist Commission,
Tourism Australia has a strong reputation for developing
innovative tourism marketing campaigns, and has built one of
the world’s most successful and desirable destination brands.

Objectives
Tourism Australia works with the Australian tourism industry
and federal, state and territory governments to maximise
the industry’s economic contribution. The industry aims to
increase annual overnight visitor expenditure from
$70 billion (the 2009 benchmark) to between $115 billion
and $140 billion by 2020.
To help achieve this target, Tourism Australia is focused on:
> increasing the number of leisure and business event visitors
> improving visitor value, including spend per trip and spend
per night
> competing with out-of-region travel destinations1
> supporting supply-side factors, such as aviation and tourism
infrastructure investment.
Under the Tourism Australia Act 2004, Tourism Australia’s
objects are to:
> influence people to travel to Australia, including for events
> influence people travelling to Australia to also travel
throughout Australia
> influence Australians to travel throughout Australia,
including for events
> help foster a sustainable tourism industry in Australia
> help increase the economic benefits to Australia
from tourism.

Out-of-region travel destinations refer to places that are beyond
target customers’ immediate geographic region. The immediate
geographic region is a short-haul travel destination for the target
customer and so is not a direct competitor with Australia.
1
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total Global
Visitor Spend

Source: Tourism Research Australia, International
Visitor Survey, June 2013; Tourism Research Australia,
National Visitor Survey, June 2013

Inbound leisure spending 2012–13 — $15.14 billion (up 8 per cent compared to 2011–12)

Source: Tourism Research Australia, International Visitor Survey, June 2013
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Tourism 2020 aims to increase
annual overnight tourism spend
to up to $140 billion by 2020
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Global tourism performed
strongly in 2012, supported by
stable consumer confidence
and improving economic
conditions. Global international
tourism receipts reached a
record US$1,075 billion, up
from US$1,042 billion in 2011.2
This was mirrored by growth
in international tourist arrivals,
which reached 1,035 million.
International arrivals to Australia
grew by nearly 5 per cent in
2012–13 to 6.3 million, up from
6 million in 2011–12.
Australia ranked 10th in the world for
international tourism receipts in 2012,
according to the United Nations World
Tourism Organisation. This reflected the
long-haul travel profile of visitors to Australia
and their tendency to stay longer and do
more when they visit. Australia ranked 43rd
for international visitor arrivals.
China was the world’s number one source
market for tourism arrivals in 2012, spending
US$102 billion on international tourism. Asian
visitors continued to generate opportunities
for Australian tourism in 2012–13, driven by
Asia’s strong economic growth, increasingly
affluent middle class, and world-leading
international aviation market. In the Asia
Pacific region, Australia received 9.7 per cent
of international tourism receipts, ranking
third after China and Macao.

United Nations World Tourism Organization (UNWTO),
Tourism Highlights 2013. Statistics quoted here from the
UNWTO are based on calendar years.
2
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WHY TOURISM MATTERS

Australia
AND Global
Tourism

US$

Global Tourism Highlights

2012–13 Australian tourism facts
International — Australian Bureau of Statistics and
International Visitor Survey results for 2012–13
> 6
 .3 million short-term international arrivals:
up 4.9 per cent.
> Total international trip expenditure totals rose to
$28.2 billion, an increase of 5.9 per cent.
> Asian markets drove growth, with arrivals from
China increasing by 17.4 per cent, from India by
7.8 per cent, from Malaysia by 10.3 per cent and
from Singapore by 13.5 per cent.
> China remains Australia’s most valuable market,
with expenditure increasing 20 per cent to
$4.5 billion.
> Visitors from the Asia Pacific are the highest
spenders, contributing nearly $16 billion to the
Australian economy. This represents 56 per cent
of total international spend.
Domestic — National Visitor Survey results
for 2012–13
> $
 51.4 billion domestic overnight spend, an
increase of 3.2 per cent.
> 2.6 per cent growth in overnight trips.

Wineglass Bay, Freycinet, TAS
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Highlights
Australian tourism
achieved three years
of consecutive growth
in visitor spend

The Wet Tropics
announced as Australia’s
14th National Landscape

Cooperative marketing
agreement with China
Southern Airlines signed
in Guangzhou

Airline partnership
with China Eastern
Airlines signed

Jul

Aug

Tourism Australia and
Austrade partnership
officially commenced;
Australia ‘open for
investment’

SEP

Australia crossed the
6 million arrivals mark

YouTube.com/Australia
launched

Tourism Australia
signed Memorandum
of Understanding
with Emirates

Tourism
Australia
unveiled
new logo

2012

Oct

nov

Australian
Tourism
Directions
Conference
held

There’s nothing
like Australia
voted Australia’s
favourite ad at
the Mumbrella
awards

New marketing push
unveiled in Asia,
bolstered by new Asia
Marketing Fund
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Great Walks
of Australia
launched

Dec

Airline
partnership
with Etihad
formalised

Greater China Travel
Mission hosted by
Tourism Australia

Tasmania’s Island Heritage
announced as Australia’s
15th National Landscape

Chinese visitor
arrivals overtook
the UK

Largest
ever Indian
incentive
group visited
Melbourne

Research
revealed
Australians
rate their
beach
holidays
the best in
the world

Best Jobs in the World
campaign launched in
Australia and across
the globe
Tourism Australia voted
as best destination
marketer in the Asian
region at Routes Asia

2013
JAN Feb

Inaugural
Australian
Tourism
Summit held
as part of
G’Day USA

Sydney Harbour
launched as the final
National Landscape in
the collection

MAR

British and Irish
rugby fans joined
the Lions tour across
Australia, injecting
$150 million into
Australia’s economy
Australian
Tourism
Exchange held
in Sydney, with
more than 2,400
delegates from
47 countries

APR

Dishing up
Australia with Al
Brown begins on
prime time TV in
New Zealand

MAY

Jun

Tourism Australia’s
new 4 part Japanese
TV series reaches
1.1 million people
per episode

Ultimate Winery Experiences of
Australia launched, a collection
of tourism oriented awardwinning wineries in Australia’s
most renowned wine regions

Best Jobs in the
World campaign
winners unveiled

More than 1,000 Chinese
delegates visited Australia for the
Herbalife Leadership Vacation,
showcasing Australia as a
premium incentive destination
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Chairman’s report
This last year has seen the continuing
resurgence of Australian tourism, with
strong growth from both the international
and domestic markets. During the year we
continued to bed down the foundation
of the Tourism 2020 strategy, and we are
beginning to see dividends.
Last financial year, there were 6.3 million international
arrivals, an increase of nearly 5 per cent, spending
$28 billion, up almost 6 per cent on the previous year.
The Asia Pacific region continued to grow strongly, led
by China, India, Indonesia, Malaysia, New Zealand and
Singapore. We see great opportunity from these fastgrowing Asian markets, which could be worth more
than $20 billion by 2020.
Three years ago, it was remarked that tourism was an
industry in transition, from west to east, from traditional
long-haul markets to fast-growing near-neighbour markets.
As last year has shown us, that transition is well advanced.
Responding to this transition, Tourism Australia shifted
resources to capitalise on the growth in China, Indonesia,
India and Malaysia, and the already well-established
markets of Singapore, Japan and South Korea.
However, the continued importance of Australia’s traditional
markets — our oldest tourism friends — is undeniable.
Tourism Australia maintains a balanced portfolio approach,
and continues to invest heavily in markets such as the UK,
France, Italy, Germany, the USA and Canada.
The UK, Europe and the Americas still generate more than
2 million of our international arrivals, spending in excess
of $10 billion. And they also travel more deeply into our
country — which is vital for regional economies.
On the domestic front, more Australians are rediscovering
the joys of exploring their own backyard, with particularly
strong results among families.
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According to the National Visitor Survey, Australians
took nearly 75 million overnight trips and spent
$51.4 billion holidaying at home last year.
Our vision under Tourism 2020 is to grow overnight
spend in Australian tourism to between $115 billion
and $140 billion by 2020.
We are on track to deliver this, with nearly $80 billion
in overnight spend in 2012–13, an increase of over
$10 billion from 2009.
I would like to thank the Board for their valuable
contributions to Tourism Australia’s strategic direction.
I would also like to thank the Tourism Australia team
for their hard work and dedication.

Geoff Dixon
Chairman
Tourism Australia
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Managing
Director’s report
Tourism 2020 is about realising the massive
growth opportunity Australia’s visitor economy
represents. It is a high-yield strategy, and
therefore it is imperative that Tourism Australia
focuses on the right consumers, from the right
markets, with the right messages.
It is for this reason that Tourism Australia has
deliberately made its marketing campaign
more sophisticated and compelling, targeting
a high-yielding global consumer.
The tag There’s nothing like Australia challenges us all to
demonstrate world’s best in Australia to a discerning audience
that sees the world as its oyster.
Through consumer demand research, Australia has better defined
its target audience. We know what our target consumers read,
watch and listen to; how they research, plan and book holidays.
And more and more, how they advocate their holiday experience
to get others to follow in their footsteps.
Social media is a powerful tool, and Tourism Australia has been
leading the way in encouraging the tourism industry to harness
the immense potential of this channel. In 2012, Tourism Australia
set Australia’s tourism industry a goal to make Australia the most
talked about holiday destination in social media.
Tourism Australia has the largest Facebook page of any destination
in the world, with more than 4.5 million highly engaged fans.
Tourism Australia also has the world’s largest destination Google+
and Instagram accounts, connects to more than 22 million unique
users via australia.com and, another six million on our dedicated
YouTube site.
We are also growing other digital and social platforms including
weibo in China and are the first destination in the world to have
built a website (australia.cn) from the ground up behind the
firewall in that country.
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Tourism Australia is a partnership marketing
organisation that works best when commercial and
state and territory partners help leverage the There’s
nothing like Australia message.
A good example of this leverage is Best Jobs in the
World, backed by our state and territory colleagues
and commercial partners Virgin Australia, STA Travel,
Citibank, Dell, IKEA, Sony Music and Monster.com.
The response has been enormous, with more than
600,000 applications, and 8,500 news articles
generating over $44 million worth of media coverage,
while STA Travel has reported significant increase in
enquiries and bookings.
The exposure this youth campaign has already
provided for our country has been incredible and will
inspire a whole new generation of young people to
visit, work in and explore our country. The statistics
back this up, with over 72 per cent of entrants planning
to apply for an Australian working holiday visa.
Airline partnerships are also vital to our prospects.
We support new routes and help fill seats on existing
routes through cooperative marketing. During
2012–13, Tourism Australia partnered with 19 airlines
in 16 international markets to promote Australia,
collectively spending more than $31.5 million
internationally on There’s nothing like Australia
campaigns. In 2013–14 the number of airline partners
rises to 24, and over the next three years will see
Tourism Australia leverage in excess of $120 million
from this sector alone.

Overall, tourism in Australia is growing. We have had
three straight years of growth in inbound numbers,
nights and yield and two years of strong domestic
growth. There is always more work to do, but our
partnership with the industry in Australia and overseas
is paying dividends.
I’d like to thank a great team of people here at Tourism
Australia, a great set of industry partners, and a hardworking and sage Board for their input, guidance and
strategic advice.

Andrew McEvoy
Managing Director
Tourism Australia

Tourism Australia is also working in partnership with
industry to package and promote some of the best of
our world class experiences in extraordinary Australian
destinations. This ‘Best of Australia’ program includes
Luxury Lodges of Australia, Great Golf Courses of
Australia, Great Walks of Australia and, the most recent
addition, Ultimate Winery Experiences of Australia.
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TOURISM
2020
Tourism 2020 is the Australian tourism industry’s long-term
strategy to grow its economic contribution. The strategy
focuses on improving the industry’s global performance
and competitiveness by addressing supply-side factors and
pursuing new opportunities for growth.
Tourism Australia is working with the tourism industry and
governments across Australia to achieve Tourism 2020’s
targets and make the most of growing demand from Asia.
All state and territory tourism organisations have adopted
the Tourism 2020 strategy as a base for their own strategies.
Tourism ministers from federal, state and territory
governments lead the implementation of Tourism 2020,
supported by the Australian Standing Committee on Tourism
(ASCOT), which comprises chief executive officers of peak
government organisations.

Tourism 2020 aims to:
> increase overnight tourism spend from $70 billion in
2009 to between $115 billion and $140 billion by 2020
> hold or grow market share in key regions
> increase tourism labour and skills
> increase accommodation capacity, particularly in
capital cities
> increase international and domestic aviation capacity
> improve the tourism industry’s quality and productivity.

Perfect China BridgeClimb, Sydney, NSW
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Results so far
Despite being in its ‘foundation years’, Tourism 2020 has already achieved
significant progress. Total overnight spend has grown by 11 per cent since
2009, to reach $79.6 billion.
During 2012–13, 6.3 million international visitors came to Australia, an
increase of 4.9 per cent from 2011–12. The number of nights they stayed
and how much they spent also increased.
Arrivals from the Asia Pacific continued to grow strongly, led by China, India,
Indonesia, Malaysia, New Zealand and Singapore, with the USA showing
signs of recovery.
Domestic tourism accounted for about two-thirds of all overnight
expenditure. Overnight domestic trips increased by 2.6 per cent in 2012–13
and expenditure grew by 3.2 per cent to $51.4 billion. Australians take ten
domestic trips for each international trip.

Tourism 2020 aims
to increase tourism
spend to between
$115 billion and
$140 billion by 2020.

At June 2013, visitors contributed $79.6 billion in total overnight spend to the Australian economy.
Spend is currently tracking below the low scenario of the Tourism 2020 goal.
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Tourism 2020 identifies six strategic areas that governments and the tourism
industry should focus on.
Tourism 2020
strategic area of focus
Grow visitor demand from Asia,
particularly China and India

Tourism Australia’s contribution in 2012–13
Delivered Asia Marketing Fund projects, including:
> accelerating the China 2020 Geographic Strategy to grow tourism to Australia
and gain competitive advantage in China’s secondary cities of Qingdao, Chengdu
and Chongqing.
> strengthening efforts to rebuild the Japanese inbound market.
> forming new cooperative aviation partnerships.
> commissioning research to help the tourism industry’s understanding of and
engagement with Asia (conducted by Tourism Research Australia).

Build competitive digital
capacity to attract more visitors
and enable online transactions

Increased emphasis on and available resources for digital marketing in Tourism
Australia’s marketing mix.
Developed and delivered digital and online devices and apps that meet the needs
of target customers.
Participated in the Digital Distribution Working Group and National Online
Strategy for Tourism, to discuss and share best practice approaches to increasing
digital competitiveness.
Translated the Australian Tourism Data Warehouse database into Mandarin,
created a booking widget for the tourism industry.
Developed a Tourism Australia website for China.

Encourage investment
development

Worked with Austrade and the Department of Resources, Energy and Tourism to
attract investment in Australian tourism infrastructure.
Updated the Investment Monitor and Investment Guide with Austrade; the
Department of Resources, Energy and Tourism; and state and territory governments.
Hosted ministerial investment discussions in Bangkok, Delhi, Shanghai, Singapore,
Tokyo and Toronto.
Held events with the Australian domestic investment network to raise the profile of
tourism investment opportunities in Australia.

Improve tourism transport
capacity and infrastructure to
allow more visitors to travel to
and through Australia

Partnered with airlines, airports, and state and territory tourism organisations to
support existing and new route development and capacity.

Address labour and
skills shortages, including
encouraging greater
Indigenous participation

Worked closely with the Department of Resources, Energy and Tourism and the
Department of Immigration and Citizenship on visa issues.

Participated in the Tourism Access Working Group, supporting the Department of
Resources, Energy and Tourism on air service negotiations and other access issues.

Promoted and developed Indigenous tourism products through the Indigenous
Tourism Champions Program, industry marketing initiatives and participation in
the Indigenous Tourism Group.
Supported labour and skills initiatives, including working with Monster.com on
the Best Jobs in the World campaign.

Increase industry productivity,
resilience and quality

Marketed the T-QUAL Accreditation Program.
Continued an active membership of the Tourism Research Advisory Board.
Promoted iconic landscapes through Australia’s National Landscapes Program.
Launched the 2020 Distribution Strategy, in partnership with state and territory
tourism organisations.
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China 2020 Strategic Plan

The China 2020 Strategic Plan, launched
in June 2011, was developed by Tourism
Australia in collaboration with industry
and government stakeholders to capitalise
on the tourism potential offered by China.
The plan underpins all of Tourism Australia’s work in
China and identifies five strategic pillars crucial to being
competitive and winning market share in China: knowing
the customer, ensuring a dedicated geographic strategy,
delivering quality Australian tourism experiences,
maintaining a healthy aviation development environment,
and having strong partnerships between government
and industry.
After two years, the China 2020 Strategic Plan has delivered
results. In 2012–13, China overtook the UK to become
Australia’s second largest inbound market by visitor arrivals,
with 685,100 Chinese visitors to Australia. China remained
Australia’s most valuable inbound market, with Chinese
visitors contributing $4.5 billion to the Australian economy.

australia.cn
In 2012–13, Tourism Australia designed,
structured and developed a dedicated consumer
website called australia.cn hosted in China.
The organisation consulted with target Chinese
consumers and web design experts for the site’s
development and implementation.
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India is one of the world’s fastest growing
outbound travel markets, with the United
Nations World Tourism Organisation
predicting 50 million outbound travellers
by 2020. The India 2020 Strategic Plan was
developed to maximise the tourism potential
offered by India and to set the foundation for
the future, when long-haul leisure travel from
India becomes more common.

India 2020 Strategic Plan

Launched in June 2012, the India 2020 Strategic Plan was
developed by Tourism Australia in collaboration with industry and
government stakeholders. It is a key deliverable of the Tourism
2020 ‘Grow Demand from Asia’ strategy, recognising India’s role
in driving tourism growth in this ‘Asian century’.
The Tourism 2020 Strategy identifies that India has the potential
to be worth between $1.9 billion and $2.3 billion by the end
of the decade. The plan identifies four strategic pillars that are
pivotal to being competitive and winning market share in India.
Only one year after Tourism Australia launched the India 2020
Strategic Plan, India became one of Australia’s top 10 inbound
markets. Indian leisure visitor numbers increased by 14.3 per cent
and overnight expenditure grew by 12 per cent to $800 million
in 2012–13.
Highlights included:
> c onducting dedicated research to better understand what
motivates Indian consumers to visit Australia
> l aunching There’s nothing like Australia in India, which
reached more than 90 per cent of the target audience
> i ncreasing Aussie Specialist travel agents in India by
50 per cent compared to 2011–12.

Tourism Australia’s growth strategy in India
In early 2013, Tourism Australia researched the travel
behaviour and preferences of target customers living
in six Indian cities: Delhi and Mumbai (where Tourism
Australia has been focusing its marketing efforts),
Bangalore, Chennai, Hyderabad and Kolkata.
Tourism Australia has started sharing research insights
with the tourism industry to better target marketing
and inform tourism product development.
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Asia Marketing Fund

ASIA
MARKETING
FUND
In 2012–13, the Australian Government
announced a dedicated Asia Marketing
Fund, worth $48.5 million over four years.
The fund enabled Tourism Australia to
drive new and existing campaign activity
across Asian inbound visitor markets.
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Reaching China’s
secondary cities
Consumers in three ‘new’ cities — Qingdao,
Chengdu and Chongqing — were targeted.
Business and trade development was the
initial focus in all three cities. The aim was to
build a strong foundation of knowledgeable
and qualified travel agents, operators and
airlines able to sell travel to Australia.
To support the focus in western China,
Tourism Australia employed dedicated
business development managers responsible
for trade development. This included opening
an office in Chengdu in October 2012.
Activities included face-to-face training, the
roll-out of the Aussie Specialist Program,
and a series of familiarisation programs
for front-line agents and tourism decision
makers. Tourism Australia partnered with
state and territory tourism organisations to
manage and deliver these initiatives. There’s
nothing like Australia campaign activity
included partnering with five Premier Aussie
Specialist agencies in Qingdao, Chengdu and
Chongqing to promote Australian holiday
experiences. A 10-week brand campaign that
used television, digital, print and outdoor was
undertaken during April and May 2013.

Participants in the China ‘Mega Famil’, Adelaide, SA
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Asia Marketing Fund continued

Japan television series

Increased aviation capacity

Launched on 27 April 2013, the four-part broadcast
program promoted tourism experiences in four Australian
destinations — Sydney, Cairns, Gold Coast and Uluru.
The program introduced new products and experiences to
the Japanese consumer and showed popular destinations
from a new perspective.

A competitive aviation environment underpins Tourism
Australia’s ability to achieve its Tourism 2020 goals.
In 2012–13, Tourism Australia continued to work
with airlines, airports, and state and territory tourism
organisations to increase capacity from Asia to Australia
by promoting new routes, increasing capacity and
frequencies of flights on existing routes, and supporting
services during non-peak periods.

As part of the program, Japanese celebrities shared their
favourite Australian holiday experiences. Viewers were
then invited to vote on the experiences, with the chance
to win a holiday to their chosen destination.
The campaign extended beyond television to include
print, digital and tactical promotions, generating
significant interest.

Cooperative marketing was delivered under the There’s
nothing like Australia campaign umbrella. Examples of
airline partnership activity included marketing the:
> China Eastern service from Shanghai to Cairns
> Sichuan Airlines service from Chengdu to Melbourne

> More than 1 million viewers watched each episode
of the four-part TV series.

> Silk Air service from Singapore to Darwin.

> Tourism Australia’s Facebook following increased by
over 30 per cent, making it the most followed national
tourism organisation in Japan.

Insights on Asian consumers

> More than 460,000 consumers visited the
campaign website.

Tourism Australia worked closely with Tourism Research
Australia across a number of projects during 2012–13,
to better understand the behaviour and travel preferences
of Asian travellers. Research projects included the:

> Travel agents reported healthy enquiries and sales during
the campaign period (27 April to 23 May 2013), as well as
increased interest in the products and experiences that
were showcased in the program.

> Chinese Visitor Satisfaction Study, to help better
understand the needs and preferences of Chinese
visitors and develop relevant Australian tourism
products and services.

Both traditional and non-traditional partners participated
in the campaign — multimedia company BS Asahi; travel
sellers Japan Travel Bureau, JALPAK, ATS, HIS and ALAN;
state and territory tourism organisations — Destination
New South Wales, Tourism and Events Queensland,
Tourism Northern Territory; JAL Airways; and hotel group
Voyages. Partners leveraged the campaign through their
own tactical campaigns and social media platforms. They
also plan to use the campaign voting results to drive
product development.

> B
 arriers to engaging with Asia study, to help better
understand barriers affecting the ability of small to
medium-sized tourism businesses to engage with
Asian markets.
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> Effectiveness of Australian Government tourism
marketing in secondary cities study, evaluating
campaign activity undertaken in Qingdao, Chengdu
and Chongqing.
> Understanding the dispersal of Asian visitors study,
to better understand the dispersal, travel behaviours
and satisfaction of visitors from Asian countries.

Arkaba Walk, Flinders Ranges, SA
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achieving
Tourism
2020
Tourism Australia is committed to working with
the tourism industry and governments across
Australia to deliver Tourism 2020 targets.
Four key strategies focus our efforts.

Customer focus — what we do centres on the customer
> Know the target customer — who they are, where they live and what they like to do —
and disseminate these insights to the industry.
> Deliver effective marketing communications — the right message through the right
channel, with a digital focus.
> Build partnerships that engage customers across distribution channels, media,
industry and events.

Development focus — building Australia’s competitiveness
> Use customer insights to inform investment opportunities and aviation partnerships
that help grow sustainable and competitive air capacity.
> Showcase Australia’s best products and experiences.
> Promote quality tourism products and experiences.
> Strengthen the travel distribution system.

Government focus — whole-of-government approach
> Collaborate with government partners to present a strong Australia brand to
target customers.
> Partner with federal and state governments to influence and promote tourism
investment opportunities in Australia.

Right people, strong organisation
> Recruit, develop, promote and reward the right people to support Tourism Australia’s
strategy and processes.
> Build an organisation with a constructive culture, an efficient structure, and effective
communication and decision-making channels.
> Respect and enforce high standards of accountability and governance.
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Customer
focus
For Tourism Australia to achieve Tourism 2020’s goals, it is vital that it understands
its target customers. The customer remained at the heart of Tourism Australia’s
leisure and business events marketing and research activities in 2012–13.
Understanding what motivates the customer

Know the
target customer
Tourism Australia used consumer
research insights to inform
marketing strategies and provide
information for market resource
allocation. By better understanding
what motivates consumers, Tourism
Australia made more informed
business decisions and refined its
campaigns to encourage travel
to Australia.
Throughout the year, Tourism
Australia conducted research to
build insights into how consumers
view Australia, use media, and
plan and book a holiday. It shared
these insights with the tourism
industry and state and territory
tourism organisations, helping align
state-specific campaign activities
and build a consistent ‘one voice’
message about Australia.

In 2012, Tourism Australia conducted a major research project into
how consumers view Australia and the factors that motivate them to
visit. It carried out consumer demand research in 11 inbound markets3,
and domestically. The research helped shape Tourism Australia’s
marketing of Australia as a tourism destination, and identify
development opportunities to make Australia more attractive.

Results from the international consumer survey
> Australia’s greatest drawcards are its world-class beauty, safe
environment and welcoming people.
> The country’s biggest strength is its world-class nature.
> The greatest drivers of international visitor demand are Australia’s
coastal and beach, and aquatic and wildlife experiences.
> Tropical North Queensland, Sydney and the Gold Coast ranked
highest for uniqueness and appeal.
> Australia is considered the safest country among people who
have visited.
> P
 eople who have visited Australia also rate it highly for food and
wine, although perceptions were mixed across markets.
> Aspiration and intention to visit Australia were very high across all
markets, although the awareness of experiences in Australia and
converting interest into actual visits for leisure or holiday travel
were lower.

“ By increasing our understanding of what motivates consumers in
key markets, we’re in a much better position to craft our message and
convert awareness of our country into visits. It also gives Australian
tourism operators valuable insights into how to adapt and develop
their businesses to best attract new visitors.”
Andrew McEvoy, Managing Director, Tourism Australia

The 11 inbound markets featured were China, Germany, India, Indonesia, Japan, Malaysia, New Zealand, Singapore, South Korea, the UK and the USA.

3
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Tourism Australia’s 2013 Domestic
Consumer Demand Survey provided insights
into why Australians choose a domestic
beach holiday and how our iconic beaches
measure up to international competition.
The survey compared iconic Australian
beach destinations: the Gold Coast, Tropical
North Queensland, the Whitsundays,
Broome/Exmouth/Ningaloo Reef, Fleurieu
Peninsula/Kangaroo Island and Freycinet
Peninsula/Wineglass Bay, with popular
overseas beaches in Bali, Fiji and Thailand.
The results found six out of 10 Australians
rated Australia’s iconic beach destinations
as better than those in Bali, Fiji and
Thailand. The family segment ranked
the Whitsundays the highest among the
beach destinations and Broome/Exmouth/
Ningaloo ranked highest among older
travellers without children.

Market resource allocation — identifying
the greatest potential for growth
Tourism Australia allocated its global marketing resources
to markets that represented the greatest potential for
growth by 2020.

Global market resources categories 2012–13
Category 1

> Australia domestic
> Greater China (including Hong Kong)
> North America (including Canada)
> The UK.
Category 2

Worth more than $2.5 billion by 2020:
> Japan
> Malaysia
> New Zealand
> Singapore

Campaign activity evaluation
In 2012–13, Tourism Australia continued
evaluating and tracking campaign activity
across 14 markets. The project provided
Tourism Australia with metrics and insights
about how targeted campaign activity
performed, helping to improve planning
for future campaigns.

Worth more than $5 billion by 2020:

> South Korea.
Category 3

Worth more than $1 billion by 2020:
> Germany
> India
> Indonesia
> The Middle East.

Category 4

Rest of world:
> Fast emerging: Brazil, Vietnam
> High priority: France, Italy
> All other markets.
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Australians rate their beaches
among the best in the world
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Tourism Australia used There’s nothing like Australia
in its marketing communications to create a sense
of urgency to visit Australia, increase consumer
knowledge and build a strong image of Australia’s
tourism offerings. The organisation used a variety
of approaches and channels to inspire its target
customers, including brand advertising, public
relations, promotions, events and advocacy
programs. It also strengthened digital and social
media activities in response to consumers’ growing
use of these channels to dream about, plan, book
and share holiday experiences.

There’s nothing like Australia
Since its launch in May 2010, the There’s nothing
like Australia campaign has attracted more than
180 partners, appeared in 25 countries and has
been translated into 17 languages.
In 2012–13, the second phase of There’s nothing
like Australia continued to roll out across print,
digital, television, radio, cinema and social media
platforms in Australia, Canada, China, France,
Germany, Hong Kong, India, Indonesia, Italy, Japan,
Malaysia, New Zealand, Singapore, South Korea,
the UK and the USA.
The Australian tourism industry showed a strong
response to phase two of There’s nothing like
Australia. As well as partnership opportunities,
Tourism Australia provided tourism operators with
free marketing tools and resources to align their
existing marketing activities with the campaign.
These included campaign logos and digital
postcards, a content widget, newsletters, and
access to a gallery of images and video footage.
The campaign enabled the tourism industry
to speak with a unified voice when promoting
Australia overseas and at home. Its flexibility
means it can evolve to fit the needs of a variety
of industry operators, from travel agents and
small tour companies to large wholesalers and
international airlines.
Domestically, the campaign was voted Australia’s
favourite television commercial at the 2012
Mumbrella awards.

Bungle Bungles, WA
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Deliver effective
marketing communications

“Winning the bid to host the Amway India
Leadership Seminar in Melbourne was
a major coup for MCVB and Victoria, and
showcases that we are well and truly
set up for this market.”
Karen Bolinger, Chief Executive Officer,
Melbourne Convention + Visitors Bureau
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Uluru, NT

The business events sector is one of the
highest yielding in Australian tourism,
with the potential to contribute up to
$16 billion annually by 2020. In 2012–13,
business events contributed $13 billion
to the Australian economy.
Business Events Australia took a contentdriven approach to its marketing
strategy in 2012–13, focusing on
providing the right message through the
right channels. It continued the There’s
nothing like Australia for business events
campaign through brand marketing,
media, digital, public relations and
content creation.
Initiatives included:
> T
 argeting decision makers
Tourism Australia placed specialist
print and digital media in highly
regarded associations and industry
publications. This complemented
the There’s nothing like Australia for
business events brand and content
advertising, while heightening direct
communications with important
industry professionals.
> P
 roviding ‘proof of performance’
to target customers Tourism Australia
increased its use of case studies in
print, digital and public relations
activities. The case studies featured
incentives and associations events
held in Australia, showcasing
industries such as medicine, energy,
direct selling and fashion.
> H
 eightening media exposure
Tourism Australia helped develop toptier business events, and ensured that
media attended major educational
and incentive trade events through
its International Media Hosting
Program. This resulted in significant
media coverage of events such as the
Amway India Leadership Seminar
in Melbourne and Herbalife China
Leadership Vacation on the Gold Coast.

A new initiative for delegate boosting
In 2012–13, Business Events Australia partnered with convention
bureaux, convention centres and professional conference organisers
in each state and territory to introduce the new Delegate Boosting
Program. The program supported tactical marketing to help increase
international delegate attendance at 16 events across the agriculture,
energy, infrastructure, medical, marine biology, science, sport and
recreation industries.
The organisation also placed advertorials in specialist publications
and targeted marketing on digital platforms such as LinkedIn, to
increase the number of delegates attending the program’s events.

Developing business events
During 2012–13, Business Events Australia ran 15 educational visits
for business events and corporate decision makers from China, Hong
Kong, India, Japan, New Zealand, South East Asia, South Korea, the
UK and the USA. The educational program enabled Business Events
Australia, state convention bureaux and the tourism industry to
showcase Australia’s best incentive offerings.
Tourism Australia and state and territory tourism organisations also
showcased Australia’s business events capabilities with dedicated
in-market functions. These included the South East Asia Showcase
in May 2013, during which 13 Australian agencies gathered in
Singapore, Kuala Lumpur and Jakarta to promote Australia’s business
events products.
Business Events Australia led delegations at business events
conferences across the world, including the European Incentive,
Business Travel & Meetings Exhibition (EIBTM) in Spain, the Pacific
Area Incentives and Conferences Expo (PAICE) in New Zealand, and
IMEX in the USA and Germany.

Australia showcased to
corporate incentive visitors
Business Events Australia and the Melbourne Convention
+ Visitors Bureau hosted Australia’s largest ever Indian
corporate incentive group at the Amway India Leadership
Seminar in Melbourne, in December 2012.
Multinational direct-selling company Amway rewarded
successful Indian business owners with a seven-day travel
itinerary. Participants attended a business session at the
Melbourne Convention and Exhibition Centre, enjoyed
exclusive access to Phillip Island Nature Park and participated
in a cricket match on the iconic Melbourne Cricket Ground,
followed by a gala dinner.
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There’s nothing like
Australia for
business events

“Ultimately, we want our 4.5 million Facebook fans, the
23 million Australians who live here and the 6.1 million
people who visited last year to become part of the world’s
biggest social media team and ambassadors for our country.”
Andrew McEvoy, Managing Director, Tourism Australia

Bondi Beach, NSW Photography by Stephan Bollinger

Create innovative digital and social media
Social media and advocacy are an important part of Tourism
Australia’s marketing activities. In 2012–13, the organisation’s
digital marketing focused on personalising, socialising and
mobilising its offerings, enabling consumers to share their own
stories and experiences.
Tourism Australia’s Social Media Program focused on stimulating
conversations about Australia through Facebook, Twitter, Google+,
Pinterest and Instagram.
Tourism Australia has:
> t he largest Facebook fan base in Australia and the most popular
destination page in the world, with over 4.5 million fans
> more than 48,000 followers on Twitter (@Australia)
> o
 ver 126,000 Instagram followers, with more than 332,000
photos tagged #seeaustralia
> m
 ore than 790,000 followers on Google+, the second most
followed account in Australia.
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In 2012, Tourism Australia set Australia’s
tourism industry a goal: make Australia the
most talked about holiday destination in
social media. Tourism Australia shared its
‘five steps to Tourism Australia’s success
in social media’ approach to help tourism
businesses across the country promote
themselves using social media.
Tourism Australia’s five steps to social
media success:
1 Create platforms that our fans can build on.
2 Make our fans the heroes.
3 Surf waves.
4 Create social stories.
5 Test and learn.

The Bronte to Bondi Photo Walk took
place in March 2013, supported by
Google, Samsung and Destination NSW.
A record-breaking 400 photographers,
bloggers, Instagrammers and
Tweeters took part, led by professional
photographers Colby Brown and
Stephan Bollinger.4
The photo walk was an initiative
of Tourism Australia’s new ‘digital
influencer project’. Digital influencers
and opinion leaders were invited to
share their images and experiences of
Australia with their extensive social
media followings. The influencer project
has hosted four influencers in 2012–13,
with a total reach of 7 million people.
4
Colby Brown is a professional photographer based
in Denver, Colorado. He has 2.3 million followers
on Google+. Stephan Bollinger is a professional
photographer and based on the Gold Coast in Australia.

The world’s most popular destination Facebook page
Tourism Australia’s Facebook page exceeded 4.5 million fans worldwide in
2012–13, reconfirming its status as the largest Facebook page in Australia
and the world’s most popular destination page. The organisation had the
most followed ‘destination’ account on Google+ and Instagram, and an
active presence on Twitter. It also increased its presence on major Asian
social media platforms Sina Weibo and Tudou. This growth demonstrated
Australia’s enduring international appeal and Tourism Australia’s
successful social media strategy.
Research commissioned by Tourism Australia found that social media is
rapidly affecting the way Australians travel domestically. A significant
number of the 10 million Australians on Facebook make travel decisions
based on their friends’ social media activity, with 20 per cent of those
surveyed admitting they had booked a domestic holiday as a result of
viewing friends’ updates, photos and check-ins. More than any other age
group, Generation Y was most likely to book a holiday based on the social
media activity of friends.
5
The Holiday Playlist allows users to choose their favourite videos from Tourism Australia’s YouTube
channel and create their own playlist. Once they have made their selections, the Holiday Preview
automatically populates with video clips related to the chosen destinations, creating an individual
gallery to share with family and friends.

World’s first destination
YouTube channel
In a world first for national tourism
organisations and the travel industry,
Tourism Australia launched its
customised YouTube channel, youtube.
com/Australia, in 16 countries in
November 2012. The channel showcases
Australia’s world-class tourism
experiences using content tailored for
consumers in their own language, and
includes a new gadget to help consumers
start planning a holiday. Choosing from
more than 450 videos, viewers can
create their own ‘Holiday Playlist’5 and
‘Holiday Preview’ to share with family
and friends. The channel was a finalist in
the AIMIA Awards for interactive content
and digital media, in the Best Travel and
Tourism category.
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Largest ever photo walk

Best Jobs in the World winners From left: Cameron Ernst (USA), Virgin Australia High Flyer; Allan Dixon (Ireland), Outback Adventurer;
Rich Keam (England), Taste Master; Elisa Detrez (France), Park Ranger, Roberto Seba (Brazil), Lifestyle Photographer; Greg Snell (Canada),
Wildlife Caretaker; Andrew Smith (USA), Chief Funster
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Engage inspirational partners

Best Jobs in the World
In March 2013, Tourism Australia, state and territory
tourism organisations and partners including
Citibank, Dell, IKEA, Monster.com, Sony Music, STA
Travel and Virgin Australia launched the Best Jobs
in the World global youth campaign. At the heart
of the campaign was a global competition to
win a dream job with a state or territory tourism
organisation, including Destination New South
Wales, Tourism Northern Territory, Tourism Victoria,
Tourism Western Australia and the South Australian
Tourism Commission.
The campaign targeted travellers aged 18 to 30
living in Australia and overseas, with a particular
focus on countries eligible for Australian working
holiday visas.6 Tourism Australia rolled out the Best
Jobs in the World campaign across Canada, France,
Germany, Hong Kong, Italy, Japan, Singapore, South
Korea, Taiwan, the UK and the USA. During the
six-week campaign, Tourism Australia received
620,000 applications from 330,000 individuals in
196 countries, with 46,000 video entries. In May
2013, the organisation selected 18 finalists from
12 different countries7 and flew them to Australia
to spend a week undergoing a series of challenges
relevant to their chosen job. It announced the
winners in June 2013.
During the campaign, Monster.com created an
online jobs board that advertised temporary and
casual jobs aimed at travellers visiting Australia
under the Working Holiday Maker program. In
addition, 60 youth travel operators around the
world promoted the campaign through their own
distribution networks.
A Tourism Australia survey of nearly 15,000 people
who entered the Best Jobs in the World competition
revealed that seven out of 10 people now planned
to apply for an Australian working holiday visa, with
four out of 10 seriously considering taking a working
holiday here within the next six months.

Including Canada, Denmark, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Italy, Ireland, Japan, South
Korea, Sweden, Taiwan, the UK and the USA.

6

The 18 finalists included five people from the USA, two from England, two from
France, and one each from Afghanistan, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, Germany,
Hong Kong, Ireland, Scotland and Taiwan.

7
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Tourism Australia works with partners to help it
get the most from its marketing activities, heighten
its online voice and achieve ‘cut through’ with
audiences. In 2012–13, the organisation worked
with a record 215 partners across tourism and
non-tourism sectors.

International airlines boost marketing presence
During 2012–13, Tourism Australia partnered with 19 airlines in 16 international
markets to promote Australia, collectively spending more than $32 million
internationally on There’s nothing like Australia campaigns. These partnerships
enabled Tourism Australia to double its marketing investment in key markets.
The organisation signed new Memoranda of Understanding (MoU) with
China Eastern, Etihad, Air China and Air New Zealand.

Worked with
19 airlines
1. Air Asia X
2. Air Canada
3. Air China
4. Air New Zealand
5. Cathay Pacific

Top six co-operative partnerships by revenue contribution

6. China Eastern
7. China Southern
8. Delta Airlines
9. Emirates
10. Etihad
11. Garuda
12. Japan Airlines
13. Malaysian Airlines
14. Qantas
15. Scoot
16. Sichuan Airlines
17. Silk Air
18. Singapore Airlines
19. Virgin Australia

Airlines Memoranda of Understanding
> Air China*

> Qantas

> Air New Zealand*

> Emirates > Singapore Airlines

> China Eastern*

> Etihad*
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> China Southern

> Virgin Australia

(*new in 2012–13)

During the lead-up to the British and Irish Lions Rugby Tour of
Australia in June and July 2013, Tourism Australia worked with
partners to promote the event and Australia to prospective
attendees. Activity included trade and consumer promotions
with HSBC, Land Rover, Lions Rugby Travel, the Mail on Sunday,
Qantas and talkSPORT radio to heighten awareness and
promote the tour.
Working with its partners, Tourism Australia developed more than
80 Australian tour itineraries to coincide with test matches in
Brisbane, Melbourne and Sydney, and games in Perth, Canberra
and Newcastle.
Other initiatives included:
> a
 tongue-in-cheek parody of Lions legend Jim Telfer’s ‘Mount
Everest’ motivational speech, run on Tourism Australia’s
YouTube channel to inspire fans to book a trip with Qantas.
The clip received more than 250,000 views and generated
significant media attention
> a
 campaign with Tourism Victoria, Lions Rugby Travel and the
Mail on Sunday offering the chance for one reader and their
own ‘First XV’ to win an Australian tour. The promotion reached
an estimated audience of more than 4.8 million people through
on-air advertorials, promotional trails and sponsorship of the
UK rugby show, Full Contact.
More than 20,000 fans from the UK alone visited Australia for the
tour, generating significant opportunities for Australian tourism.

Providing a strong editorial platform for
domestic tourism

Wine Australia partnership
In 2012, Tourism Australia formalised
its partnership with Wine Australia
to promote the country’s worldclass tourism and wine experiences
in domestic and key international
markets, including Canada, China, the
UK and the USA. During the three-year
Memorandum of Understanding, the
organisations will work together on a
variety of marketing activities, including
advertising and consumer promotions,
digital marketing, public relations
activities and special events.
As part of a joint initiative between
Tourism Australia and Wine Australia,
six of China’s leading wine and lifestyle
opinion leaders visited Australia in
November 2012. The opinion leaders
represented major Chinese media titles
and wine blog sites, with a combined
following of more than 1 million people.
Their Australian itinerary included visits
to more than 10 wineries, and talks with
leading winemakers in the Adelaide
Hills, Barossa Valley, Margaret River and
McLaren Vale wine regions.

In 2012–13, Tourism Australia joined forces with News Limited
and Fairfax Media to provide editorial coverage of products from
Australian tourism operators, and state and territory tourism
organisations. Through these partnerships, Tourism Australia also
negotiated heavily discounted rates for the tourism industry to
advertise in key publications.
The editorial campaign ran from November 2012 to June 2013,
encouraging readers to make the most of Australian tourism
experiences. Features included 52 Extraordinary Australian Trips,
The Best of 2013, Places in the Heart and Take Me There. The print
activity delivered more than 100 pages of inspiring Australian
content from all states and territories, and featured over 1,000
Australian tourism operators.
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Targeting Lions fans worldwide

Development
focus
To ensure Australia is a competitive tourism
destination, Australian tourism needs
high-quality infrastructure, products
and experiences, and sustainable air
access. To help achieve this, the Australian
Government expanded Tourism Australia’s
remit to include facilitating tourism
investment and promoting sustainable
aviation development. Tourism Australia
also works closely with state and territory
governments to develop and present
products that meet changing consumer
needs and ensure that tourism products
are easy to access for potential travellers.

Use customer insights to drive
investment opportunities and
aviation partnerships
Driving investment opportunities
Since the launch of their five-year partnership in May 2012,
Tourism Australia, Austrade and the Department of
Resources, Energy and Tourism have focused on promoting
investment opportunities in the Australian tourism industry
and providing advice and facilitation services to global
and local investors. Although initially aimed at attracting
accommodation investment, the project broadened in
mid-2013 to include attractions and leisure activities.
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Achievements in 2012–13 included:
> i dentifying key overseas investors and establishing a close
working relationship with tourism specialists in state and
territory investment agencies
> r esearching ‘greenfield’ short-term accommodation
development opportunities and barriers
> r epresenting Australia at major tourism investment
conferences in key markets
> h
 osting ministerial investment discussions in Bangkok,
Delhi, Shanghai, Singapore, Tokyo and Toronto
> u
 pdating the investment guide and publishing a list of
investment opportunities at tourisminvestment.com.au
> h
 olding events with the Australian domestic investment
network to raise the profile of tourism investment
opportunities in Australia.
Federal, state and territory governments also began
regulatory reform work in 2012–13, to ease investment red
tape and streamline approval processes through the Major
Project Facilitation Service.
Encourage aviation growth
To support the growth of aviation capacity to and within
Australia, Tourism Australia worked with airlines, airports,
and state and territory tourism organisations to identify gaps
and opportunities in the aviation market. Tourism Australia
collaborated with these organisations to provide marketing
support to promote new routes and enhance capacity on
current routes during peak travel periods.
A number of new airline routes also launched in Australia,
including China Eastern Airlines and China Southern Airlines
services to Cairns; a Sichuan Airlines service from Chengdu to
Melbourne; a Qatar Airways service from Doha to Perth; and
an Emirates service from Dubai to Adelaide.

DEVELOPMENT Focus

Tourism Australia recognised as
best destination marketer
To help attract new international
aviation capacity, Tourism Australia
led a high-level delegation of
Australia’s major airport companies
to Asia’s leading aviation route
development forum, Routes Asia,
in Mumbai. At the event, the airline
and airport industry voted Tourism
Australia the best destination
marketer in Asia. The award
recognised Tourism Australia’s
extensive marketing activities and
joint campaigns with airlines and
airport partners.

Twelve Apostles, VIC
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Lead with the best
Tourism Australia research identified several world’s best tourism
experiences already on offer in Australia — such as golf, wine and
walks — that are highly motivating to international travellers.
This research highlighted the opportunity to bundle and promote
these unique experiences to international and domestic audiences.
In 2012–13, the program continued promoting Great Golf Courses
of Australia8 and Luxury Lodges of Australia.9 It also launched two
new initiatives: Great Walks of Australia and Ultimate Winery
Experiences of Australia.

Ultimate Winery Experiences of Australia
The Ultimate Winery Experiences program comprises
a consortium of high-end, award-winning wineries
that offer unique wine experiences in renowned wine
regions. It aims to raise the profile of Australia as one
of the world’s leading wine tourism destinations. The
wineries currently comprise Jacobs Creek, Penfolds and
Seppeltsfield in the Barossa Valley; Leeuwin Estate,
Voyager Estate and Xanadu in the Margaret River region;
De Bortoli, TarraWarra and Yering Station in the Yarra
Valley; Wyndham Estate in the Hunter Valley; Montalto in
the Mornington Peninsula; and Moorilla Estate and Josef
Chromy in Tasmania.

8
Great Golf Courses of Australia is a marketing collaboration between the country’s premier
golf courses, Tourism Australia, state tourism offices and the Professional Golf Association of
Australia. It provides a comprehensive and centralised resource for golfers, media and trade
to access information on Australia’s leading golf courses and iconic golf tourism experiences.
9
Luxury Lodges of Australia is a member-owned marketing association that promotes
uniquely Australian luxury lodges domestically and internationally. There are currently 18
independently owned and operated lodges in the collection.
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Bay of Fires, TAS

Great Walks of Australia

DEVELOPMENT Focus

The Great Walks of Australia program
includes an inspiring collection of
destination-based walks across
Australia’s magnificent landscapes.
It aims to increase the accessibility
of these walks and build awareness
of Australia as a world-class walking
destination. The routes currently
comprise the Cradle Mountain Huts
Walk, Freycinet Experience Walk, Bay
of Fires Lodge Walk and Maria Island
Walk in Tasmania; the Arkaba Walk in
South Australia; the Great Ocean
Walk in Victoria; and the Larapinta
Trail by World Expeditions in the
Northern Territory.
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Promote quality products
and experiences
To ensure its competitive advantage, Australia must develop
products that meet the needs of customers and deliver
high-quality tourism experiences. In 2012–13, Tourism
Australia continued to work with the tourism industry, the
Tourism Quality Council of Australia, and the Department of
Resources, Energy and Tourism to help improve the quality
of tourism products and services.
T-QUAL Accreditation tick of assurance
T-QUAL Accreditation is the Australian Government’s quality
framework for the tourism industry. It assesses and supports
quality assurance schemes and endorses their members with
its national quality symbol, the T-QUAL tick. Tourism Australia
is responsible for developing and implementing the scheme’s
marketing strategy.
The T-QUAL tick differentiates between tourism products and
services based on guaranteed quality, helping travellers easily
recognise quality Australian tourism experiences.
In 2012–13, Tourism Australia launched two T-QUAL
marketing campaigns comprising a mix of digital and print
advertising, public relations, social media activities and
industry communications. Consumer research shows that
the program’s marketing is gaining momentum.
The campaign achieved:

Matt Moran congratulates the winner of the first challenge on the
T-QUAL tick race.

> a
 16 per cent increase in consumer awareness of the
marketing activity compared to 2011–12
> a
 9 per cent increase in respondents stating that they
would look for the T-QUAL tick when next planning an
Australian holiday
> a
 9 per cent increase in the importance of holiday
experiences carrying the T-QUAL tick.

“As co-owner of ARIA, I understand
the importance of promoting
quality in the tourism industry.”
Matt Moran

The T-QUAL Accreditation program
The 2012–13 T-QUAL tick public relations campaign
consisted of a T-QUAL tick race that involved three
family-oriented bloggers and one Instagram
photographer travelling around Australia to
compete in challenges and raise awareness of the
T-QUAL tick. Matt Moran continued as the T-QUAL
ambassador and launched the campaign at his
T-QUAL-endorsed restaurant, ARIA Sydney.
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Indigenous Tourism Champions Program
The Indigenous Tourism Champions Program
promotes and supports businesses that offer
authentic Indigenous tourism experiences delivered
by Indigenous guides or hosts. In 2012–13, the
program continued to grow under the joint
leadership of Tourism Australia and Indigenous
Business Australia (IBA), and through support from
state and territory tourism organisations.
Tourism Australia and IBA restructured the
program in 2012–13 to increase the involvement
from state and territory tourism organisations,
and to better support businesses. This included
matching Indigenous businesses to specific
marketing categories, to improve and tailor their
marketing. The initiative was well received across
the tourism industry.
Indigenous tourism showcased in France
Indigenous Australia was on show in a number of
initiatives during the Papunya Art Exhibition at the
Musée du Quai Branly in Paris. Tourism Australia
partnered with Tourism Northern Territory and
Tourism Victoria to coordinate the four-month
exhibition, which ran from October 2012 to January
2013 and attracted around 1.6 million visitors.
Marketing activity included distributing a 12-page
brochure about Australia’s Indigenous tourism, a
dedicated page on australia.com and a press trip for
France’s high-profile media representitives.
The French travel trade also had the opportunity
to learn more about Indigenous tourism through a
new Indigenous Aussie Specialist Program module,
launched in France in 2012.

Mount Anderson West Kimberley , WA
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Promote Indigenous tourism

Strengthen the travel distribution system
2020 Distribution Strategy
Global tourism is among the most competitive and fastest changing
industries, and is heavily influenced by advances in technology and
changes in consumer behaviour. In March 2013, Tourism Australia
and its state and territory tourism partners published the findings of
Distribution 2020: Situational Analysis, which looked at how Australian
tourism products are distributed internationally. The comprehensive
review provides the tourism industry with an overview of potential new
distribution models across Australia’s key holiday markets.
Tourism Australia commissioned the review to ensure the Australian
tourism industry is distributing tourism products in the most efficient
and effective way. In response to the report, the organisation is working
with states and territories to improve the coordination and delivery of
these products.
The Aussie Specialist Program
The Aussie Specialist Program is a dedicated initiative to engage and
train travel agents about Australian tourism. At 30 June 2013, Tourism
Australia had 23,535 registered agents (a 10 per cent increase from
2011–12), in 110 countries and 12 languages.
In 2012–13, Tourism Australia launched five new training modules
across the world, enhancing the knowledge of front-line travel agents.
The modules included National Landscapes, Indigenous Experiences,
Aussie Youth Experiences, Great Walks of Australia and Great Golf
Courses of Australia. The organisation also offered familiarisation visits
and on-the-ground travel agent training in key markets.
Corroboree Europe 2012, Cairns
Tourism Australia’s Corroboree was held in November 2012. Around
300 specialist agents from the UK and Continental Europe participated.
The event focused on cultivating relationships and building new
business for the Australian tourism industry, and increasing agents’
product knowledge. Event partners included Qantas, Tourism Tropical
North Queensland, and state and territory tourism organisations.
The Australian Tourism Exchange
The Australian Tourism Exchange (ATE) is the largest business-tobusiness tourism trade show in the southern hemisphere. It provides
a forum for Australian tourism businesses to showcase their products,
meet overseas contacts and negotiate business deals.
Tourism Australia and Destination NSW hosted more than 2,400
delegates from 47 countries at ATE 2013 Sydney, including travel buyers,
Australian travel agencies and international travel media.
A new format was introduced, reducing the traditional seven-day event
to five days. The change was in response to Tourism Australia’s ongoing
review of the ATE, as well as feedback from government partners and
members of the tourism industry.
Stakeholder satisfaction
Tourism Australia’s 2013 Key Stakeholder Survey feedback was very
positive. The proportion of stakeholders who agreed that Tourism
Australia helped their business grew from 68 per cent in 2011–12 to
80 per cent in 2012–13.
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Great Barrier Reef , QLD
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Government
focus
Presenting a strong brand for Australia
In 2012–13, Tourism Australia continued to partner with federal, state and territory
departments and agencies to develop and promote a strong brand for Australia. Key
partners during the year included the Department of Resources, Energy and Tourism, the
Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, the Department of Immigration and Citizenship,
the Department of Infrastructure and Transport, Austrade and Parks Australia.
These partnerships helped Tourism Australia represent the Australian tourism industry
through meetings with representatives of foreign governments and ministerial visits.

One voice — close collaboration
with the states and territories
Tourism Australia continued to work closely with
state and territory tourism organisations to help
integrate and align international tourism activities
under one voice.
Chief executives and heads of marketing from Tourism
Australia and state and territory tourism organisations
met throughout the year to discuss plans for six
main areas: There’s nothing like Australia, the aviation
industry, public events, public relations, trade events
and trade missions.

Inaugural Australia Tourism Summit
Tourism Australia built on growing visitor numbers from the
USA by hosting the inaugural Australia Tourism Summit in
January 2013 as part of G’Day USA. The summit encouraged
the USA travel industry to sell Australia by covering topics
such as reaching target customers and developing offers that
resonate with consumers. Destination NSW, Qantas Airways,
the South Australian Tourism Commission, Tourism and Events
Queensland, and Tourism Victoria supported the event.
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Australian Tourism Directions Conference and
industry briefings
The annual Australian Tourism Directions
Conference is the Australian Government’s peak
tourism industry meeting. It addresses long-term
opportunities for tourism, the industry’s growing
economic value and other important issues; reports
on the state of the Australian tourism industry;
and delivers research insights.
The conference was held in Canberra on 1 November
2012 and was attended by 300 senior government,
industry and business representatives.
Following the event, Tourism Australia conducted
industry briefings in Adelaide, Canberra, Cairns,
Darwin, the Gold Coast, Hobart, Melbourne,
Perth and Sydney. The briefings were held in
collaboration with the Department of Resources,
Energy and Tourism and state and territory tourism
organisations. They provided participants with an
overview of Tourism Australia’s marketing initiatives,
consumer insights, business event activities and
partnership opportunities. The briefings attracted
1,285 attendees and were rated ‘excellent’ by
90 per cent of respondents (up from 85 per cent
in 2011–12).

Government Focus

Melbourne, VIC
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Flinders Ranges, SA

Marketing Australia’s National Landscapes
Australia’s National Landscapes Program is an innovative partnership between
Tourism Australia and Parks Australia, focusing on tourism and conservation.
The program promotes Australia’s natural and cultural environments as tourism
assets and aims to improve the quality of visitor experiences.
In 2012–13, the program grew from 13 to a final total of 16 landscapes.10 It now
includes the Wet Tropics, Tasmania’s Island Heritage and Sydney Harbour.
Tourism Australia promoted Australia’s National Landscapes Program through
a number of channels, including a dedicated microsite on australia.com
(which is available in 17 languages), 22 short films to showcase Australia’s
unique wildlife, guidebooks for 14 national landscapes, and a glossy brochure
to promote the collection at industry events.
The 2012 National Landscapes Forum
Tourism Australia hosted the 2012 National Landscapes Forum, bringing
together participants from all 16 landscapes, and government and Reference
Committee representatives. The event encouraged participants to share
information, build knowledge and networks, and discuss the program’s future
growth and development.

Government Focus

The full Australia’s National Landscapes Program comprises the Australian Alps, Australia’s Coastal Wilderness, Australia’s Green Cauldron, Australia’s
Red Centre, Australia’s Timeless North, the Flinders Ranges, the Great Barrier Reef, the Greater Blue Mountains, the Great South West Edge, Kangaroo
Island, Ningaloo-Shark Bay, Sydney Harbour, Tasmania’s Island Heritage, The Kimberley, the Great Ocean Road and the Wet Tropics.

10
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right people,
strong organisation
In 2012–13, Tourism Australia continued to build a constructive culture,
an efficient organisational structure, and effective communication and
decision-making channels.
The organisation’s internal philosophy is There’s nothing like keeping it simple and doing it well.
This is based on the principles of:
> There’s nothing like getting value for money. Tourism Australia encourages staff to treat every dollar as
if it is their own. This means being accountable in managing money, planning work effectively, looking
for efficiencies and achieving value for money in all their endeavours.
> T
 here’s nothing like an enquiring mind. Tourism Australia’s staff are enthusiastic, collaborative and
creative. They are hungry for knowledge and always looking for ways to improve outcomes for
Australian tourism.
> T
 here’s nothing like sharing for success. Tourism Australia expects its staff to work together
cooperatively and professionally, to be respectful and trusting of others, to collaborate freely, to
focus on the customer, and to use their expertise and experience to get the best possible results.

Staff culture and engagement
Results from the 2013 Staff Survey11 indicated that staff engagement and morale improved
considerably in 2012–13, compared to previous years.

2013 Staff Survey

Results from the 2013 Staff Survey

> The staff engagement index
increased to 87 per cent
(up from 76 per cent in 2012).
> The role clarity index
increased to 90 per cent (up
from 84 per cent in 2012).
> Staff were proud to work for
Tourism Australia —
94 per cent said they would
recommend the organisation
to friends and customers.

206 staff and contractors provided feedback (86 per cent of total staff/contractors).

11
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Tourism Australia offers its own ‘best job’
Photographer, cinematographer, director and Best Jobs in the World
contestant Ellenor Argyropoulos accepted a six-month assignment
with Tourism Australia’s social media team in May 2013. She used her
photography skills to create destination content for Tourism Australia’s
Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and Google+ accounts and its other
media channels.
Tourism Australia’s Managing Director Andrew McEvoy encouraged Australian employers to look at
other unsuccessful Best Jobs candidates, many of whom were available to work in Australia under
Australia’s Working Holiday Maker program, which supported the Best Jobs in the World campaign.
Such was the quality of the candidates that Tourism Australia created its own ‘Best Job’ to help
document the week-long activities that formed part of the final week of challenges for the top
18 finalists in the competition.

ELLENOR ARGYROPOULOS
Ellenor Argyropoulos, photographer, cinematographer
and director based in Melbourne, VIC
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RIGHT PEOPLE, STRONG ORGANISATION

“I was absolutely
blown away and so
excited for this unique
opportunity to help
Tourism Australia
promote Australia
by combining my
photography and
film skills. It was the
ultimate dream job.”

FACTS
AND
FIGURES
Australian Government performance reporting
Tourism Australia’s contribution to the tourism industry is to ‘increase
demand for Australia as a destination, strengthen the travel distribution
system and contribute to the development of a sustainable tourism industry
through consumer marketing, trade development and research activities’.
Tourism Australia delivers on this high-level outcome through the following
three programs:
> Increase demand for Australia as a destination.
> Develop the industry.
> Strengthen the travel distribution system.

INCREASE DEMAND FOR AUSTRALIA AS A DESTINATION
Program objective > Identify and target best-prospect consumers and inspire them to travel to Australia.
Use dedicated market categorisation to focus activities and resources.

What Tourism Australia did > Targeted
consumers who are predisposed to travel to
Australia and who will spend more and do more
when they are here.

Highlights
> Positioned Australia competitively, primarily targeting
consumers who are predisposed to travel to Australia
and who will spend more and do more.
> Focused business events marketing on international
corporate conference and incentive agents, decision
makers and associations, who are high-yielding visitors,
likely to return.
> Developed stronger relationships between
Business Events Australia and international buyers,
including a dedicated effort in the professional
associations sector.
> Focused on markets in countries with the greatest
potential for expenditure growth by 2020, including
those with strong latent demand, ‘purpose of visit’
and aviation capacities.
> Continued dedicated marketing in Asia, while
maintaining a balanced market portfolio.

What Tourism Australia did > Developed
and implemented cooperative campaigns
and activities with industry partners to
promote Australia’s brand and best tourism
offerings internationally.

Highlights

> Promoted Australia’s nature experiences in 100 train
stations across five German states.
Japan
> Launched a four-part broadcast program with BS
Asahi, introducing new tourism options to the
Japanese consumer and showing popular destinations
from a different angle.
UK
> Undertook a cooperative campaign with Emirates,
MSN and Mr & Mrs Smith to promote Australia
as a unique and achievable holiday destination.
The campaign included tactical fares, a 30-second
television advertisement and a 12-page booklet.
South Korea
> Enhanced Tourism Australia’s online presence on
travel agencies’ websites, to increase awareness
and bookings.
> Arranged the filming of an episode of reality
television program Real Mate Australia, as part of the
International Media Hosting Program. The episode
screened in South Korea, Hong Kong and Thailand.
China
> Ran a cooperative campaign with China Eastern
Airlines, targeting consumers in Shanghai, Beijing,
Nanjing and Hangzhou, to promote Sydney,
Melbourne and Cairns, and raise awareness of direct
services to these destinations.
USA
> Partnered with Virgin Australia on a There’s
nothing like Australia campaign to target affluent
American travellers.
> Worked with Virgin Australia, Delta Airlines, and
Tourism and Events Queensland to inspire Delta
frequent flyers to travel to Australia, by promoting a
bonus miles offer and a number of holiday packages.
Brazil
> Launched a cooperative marketing campaign on
Expedia’s new website.

India
> Partnered with the South Australian Tourism
Commission, Tourism and Events Queensland, Tourism
Victoria and Singapore Airlines to raise destination
awareness, promote tactical fares to Australia and
encourage early bookings.

> Ran the There’s nothing like Australia campaign from
November 2012 to January 2013.

> Rolled out phase two of There’s nothing like Australia.

> Highlighted Australian incentive and event
experiences that ‘money can’t buy’, including
expanding digital and social programming in
channels such as LinkedIn.

Germany
> Partnered with Emirates and the South Australian
Tourism Commission to drive awareness of Emirates’
new service to Adelaide.

Business Events Australia
> Aligned the campaign with There’s nothing like
Australia phase two activity.
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What Tourism Australia did > Partnered
with the national and international tourism
industry, distributors and the media to engage
target customers and help them easily access
Australian tourism products.

Highlights
Airlines
> Partnered with 19 airlines in 16 international markets
to promote Australia, and signed new Memoranda of
Understanding with China Eastern and Emirates.
New Zealand
> Partnered with Qantas, Fairfax and travel agencies
for an online competition to stimulate consumer
engagement. The campaign exceeded targets,
receiving more than 28,600 entries.
Germany
> Launched a cooperative campaign with Qantas,
supported by Die Zeit, FTI Touristik and Best of Travel
Group, focusing on Australia’s coastal, nature and
city experiences.
South East Asia
> Supported the feature film Three Peas in a Pod, which
was filmed in Australia by a creative team that is very
popular in South East Asia.
India
> Welcomed more than 4,000 Indian delegates to
Melbourne for the Amway India Leadership
Seminar 2012.
> Held an educational visit for 12 Indian delegates to
Sydney and the Gold Coast, including a behind-thescenes tour of the Sydney Cricket Ground by cricket
legend Glenn McGrath.

What Tourism Australia did> Used research
and expertise to match relevant products and
experiences with target audiences, including
bundling products, to promote Australia’s
best experiences.

Highlights
Consumer Demand Project
> Increased understanding of what motivates target
customers across key markets.
> Dedicated research into the reasons Australians
choose a beach holiday.
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Best of Australia
> Continued to package and promote Australia’s best
products in a variety of special interest categories,
including Great Golf Courses of Australia, Great Walks
of Australia, Ultimate Winery Experiences of Australia
and Luxury Lodges of Australia.
Great Walks of Australia
> Launched a collection of destination-based walks
across Australia to increase the accessibility and
build awareness of Australia as a world-class
walking destination.
Ultimate Winery Experiences of Australia
> Launched a consortium of award-winning wineries
that offer unique experiences, to raise the profile
of Australia as one of the world’s leading wine
tourism destinations.

What Tourism Australia did> Collaborated with
state and territory tourism organisations and
tourism operators to stimulate target markets
with compelling marketing, advertising and
public relations activities.

Highlights
British & Irish Lions tour
> Collaborated with rugby legend Jim Telfer to parody his
famous 1997 Mount Everest speech. The clip received
over 250,000 views on YouTube and featured in major
news outlets, marketing and rugby publications.
australia.com
> Refreshed consumer events content to showcase
more than 300 events and festivals, and include new
imagery, editorial and content navigation.
> Launched a ‘What’s on’ calendar for consumer events
in 10 languages.
Promotional assets
> Developed new assets for the Sydney Royal Easter
Show, Noosa International Food and Wine Festival,
Gold Coast Magic Millions and High Country
Harvest Festival.
Social media
> Gained more than 1.26 million new Facebook fans, an
increase of 38 per cent compared to 2011–12, taking
total Facebook fans to more than 4.5 million.
> Attracted more than 114,000 new followers on
Instagram to reach over 126,000 fans, an increase
of 950 per cent.
> Increased Twitter followers to more than 48,000,
a rise of 99 per cent.

> Supported the Best Jobs in the World campaign by
increasing the Australian Working Holiday Facebook
page fan base by 249 per cent to more than 482,000.
> Increased Google+ profile followers by 1,877 per cent
to more than 790,000, making it the second largest
Google+ profile in Australia.
Friends of Australia
> Grew the program to include more than 175 advocates,
including 50 based overseas, to create content and
share stories about Australia.
> Participated in more than 190 opportunities to
promote Australia, reaching an anticipated audience
of more than 120 million people worldwide.
> Collaborated with musician Iva Davies to celebrate
the 30th anniversary of Great Southern Land with
an online video clip featuring famous Australians in
beautiful destinations. The clip generated almost
200,000 views, 150 media articles and 3,000 social
media conversations.
Digital influencer project
> Hosted visits from four influencers with a total
reach of 7 million, generating 994 posts, with
218 million impressions.
> Promoted walks in Sydney and Perth with photographer
Colby Brown. The Sydney walk had 400 participants,
breaking a world record and generating 500 social
media conversations.

There’s nothing like Australia
> Launched phase two in Australia, Canada, China,
France, Germany, Hong Kong, India, Indonesia, Italy,
Japan, New Zealand, Malaysia, the Middle East,
Singapore, South Korea, the UK and the USA.
> Worked with regional marketing managers on 84
campaigns globally.
Visual assets
> Distributed more than 7,000 visual assets to the
tourism industry and the media, with a value of over
$60 million.
> Added more than 2,000 images and 400 videos to the
websites, and updated all assets with the new Tourism
Australia logo.
Digital marketing
> Attracted more than 221 million views of the new
There’s nothing like Australia campaign video, which
was available online through YouTube, YouKu, Tudou,
Kakaotalk and australia.com.12
> Generated 58,978 downloads of the new There’s
nothing like Australia tablet app for iOS and
Android platforms.
> Upgraded mobile-enabled capabilities on
australia.com, including combining campaign video,
imagery and destination content in an integrated and
engaging way. The microsite has received 5.6 million
visitors since its launch on 4 June 2012.

Best Jobs in the World
> Developed and implemented a global public relations
program to support the campaign, representing an
equivalent advertising value of $45 million.
International media hosting and visiting opinion
leader programs
> Hosted 213 media outlets.
> Brought broadcasters to Australia from major
international television shows, including, MSN Sports
(UK), Total Rugby TV (UK), BS Asahi (Japan), Al Brown
(NZ), TAFF Pro Sieben (Germany), Ekin Cheng TVB
Travelogue Series (Hong Kong), LiTV Travelogue Series
(Malaysia), Rai TV (Italy) and QTV (South Korea).
> Welcomed 27 international media representatives at
the Australian Tourism Exchange (ATE) in Sydney.

12
In 2012, Australia ranked ninth in the Anholt Nations Brand Index (down from
eighth in 2011) and sixth in the FutureBrand study of country brands, down
from fifth in 2011.
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What Tourism Australia did > Continued developing australia.com, tourism.australia.com and
websites for There’s nothing like Australia, No Leave No Life, Business Events Australia and
International Media Relations.

Highlights
> Refreshed tourism.australia.com in June 2012, improving site navigation, aligning the design
with Tourism Australia’s new logo and bringing together previous corporate, media and
Indigenous tourism websites.
> Continued to improve Tourism Australia websites efficiency through a dedicated digital
integration project.

Key performance indicators – increase demand

Performance indicator

2012–13 target

2012–13 actual

Total spend by all visitors
(all purposes, international and domestic)
Total spend by visitors from Tourism Australia –
selected markets (all purposes, excluding rest of world)
Spend per trip by visitors from Tourism Australia –
selected markets (all purposes, excluding rest of world)
Spend per night by visitors from Tourism Australia –
selected markets (all purposes, excluding rest of world)
Competitive market share – number of trips (all
purposes, Tourism Australia – selected inbound markets)
Share of Australian travel dollars (spending on
domestic overnight travel, compared to spending
on outbound travel)

$86,086.7 million
(year ended Dec 12)

$77,977.3 million
(year ended Dec 2012)

$73,365.8 million
(year ended Dec 2012)

$72,645.1 million
(year ended Dec 2012)

$4,676 per trip
(year ended Dec 2012)

$4,792 per trip
(year ended Dec 2012)

$129 per night
(year ended Dec 2012)

$140 per night
(year ended Dec 2012)

3.65 per cent
(year ended Dec 2012)

2.97 per cent
(year ended Dec 2012)

54.17 per cent
(year ended Dec 2012)

54.33 per cent
(year ended Dec 2012)

DEVELOP THE INDUSTRY
Program objective> Develop a competitive and sustainable Australian tourism industry that meets the needs
of target customers. Inform industry development by understanding customer needs and sharing insights
with tourism industry organisations.

What Tourism Australia did > Attracted and
facilitated investment in the Australian
tourism industry.

Highlights
Targeted stakeholder engagement program
> Coordinated and hosted six Ministerial Investment
Roundtables with prospective investors and decision
makers in Bangkok, Delhi, Shanghai, Singapore, Tokyo
and Toronto.
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> Profiled tourism investment opportunities through
speaking engagements with Tourism Western
Australia, Tourism Northern Territory and the
Queensland Government at investment conferences
and events, such as the Hotel Investment Conference
Asia Pacific.
Prospective investor meetings
> Held meetings as part of the Minister for Resources,
Energy and Tourism’s involvement in G’day USA, and
sourced preliminary site location information for a
leading hotel group.
> Met with prospective investors from the New Zealand
investor community, following an event in 2011–12.

Tourism infrastructure and investment research
> Commissioned Jones Lang La Salle to research the
key drivers of tourism research and investment.
> Gained insights into and understanding of
the business models and decision making
needed for greenfield investment in short-term
accommodation developments.
> Shared insights with partners to use in investment
attraction activity.
Online database
> Launched a database with details of more than 50
investment opportunities across Australia, available at
tourisminvestment.com.au.
> Used the database as a primary source in discussions
with prospective investors.
Tourism 2020 Strategy Groups
> Worked with key tourism industry and government
bodies to identify and promote investment opportunities.

What Tourism Australia did > Implemented the
China 2020 Strategic Plan, recognising China’s
importance to Australia’s long-term future.

Highlights
> Worked in partnership with government agencies and
the tourism industry to implement the China 2020
Strategic Plan, communicate progress and deliver
one-voice marketing activities in China.
> Maintained Australia’s aviation market share against
competitors at an estimated 7.9 per cent ( according to
the International Air Transport Association).
> Increased aviation capacity from China to Australia by
11 per cent, with Chinese carriers launching additional
direct flights to new Australian destinations and
secondary Chinese cities.
> Shared the plan’s goals with the wider tourism industry
and used it to help develop Tourism Australia’s China
2013-14 Annual Operating Plan.
> Launched a new Tourism Australia website hosted in
China in July 2013, providing Chinese consumers with
accessible, easy-to-use tourism information in their
own language.
> Accelerated the roll-out of the China 2020 Geographic
Strategy, with leisure consumer marketing and trade
development in China’s secondary cities.
> Delivered Tourism Australia’s largest ever Greater China
Travel Mission in Shanghai, attended by more than 100
representatives from 72 travel agencies – a 40 per cent
increase from 2011–12 – who met with 140 buyers
from 26 cities across Greater China.

> Hosted six of China’s leading wine and lifestyle opinion
leaders as part of a joint Tourism Australia and Wine
Australia initiative to promote Australia’s world-class
tourism and wine experiences.

What Tourism Australia did > Developed and
implemented the India 2020 Strategic Plan.

Highlights
> Implemented the foundation stage of the India 2020
Strategic Plan in partnership with Australian
Government departments and agencies, state and
territory tourism organisations, and the tourism industry.
> Shared the plan’s goals with the wider tourism industry
and used it to help develop the 2013–14 Annual
Operating Plan for India.
> Researched the long-haul travel behaviour and
preferences of target customers in Bangalore, Chennai,
Delhi, Hyderabad, Kolkata and Mumbai to better
understand what drives their travel decisions.

What Tourism Australia did > Improved aviation
access by growing sustainable and competitive
capacity to and through Australia, and
addressing visa access issues.

Highlights
> Analysed industry and aviation conditions, and shared
insights with government agencies and the tourism
industry to help strategic aviation decision making.
> Helped develop aviation capacity through Memoranda
of Understanding, high-level relationships, developing
new routes and cooperative marketing campaigns.
> Worked to resolve high-level problems that impeded
growth, including visa access issues.
> Supported Australian Government departments with
Tourism Access Working Groups and Air Services
Agreement bilateral negotiations.
> Raised Australia’s profile with senior route
development executives and attracted new services
to Australia, by accompanying Australian airport
representatives to the World Route Development
Forum in Abu Dhabi and Routes Asia in Mumbai.
> Built stronger relationships with global carriers,
engaging with senior executives of key airlines
currently flying to Australia, as well as airlines with
the potential to fly to Australia in the future.
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What Tourism Australia did > Participated in
Tourism 2020 Strategic Groups.

These groups included:
> Investment and Regulatory Reform Working Group
> Tourism Access Working Group
> Tourism Quality Council of Australia
> Digital Distribution Working Group
> Indigenous Tourism Working Group
> Research Advisory Board.

What Tourism Australia did > Conducted
industry communications and marketing.

Highlights
> Developed a dedicated communications program for
the tourism industry, which included communications
packs, webinars, newsletters, stories and a dedicated
industry page on tourism.australia.com.
> Created international communications, targeting
around 20,000 Aussie Specialist agents through the
Aussie Specialist website.
> Profiled the Aussie Specialist Program at the ATE.

What Tourism Australia did > Built product
quality through accreditation.

> Sponsored industry events, including the Australian
Tourism Awards, Ecotourism Australia Conference,
CRVA National Conference, Adventure & Backpacker
Industry Conference, and Caravan, Recreational Vehicle
and Accommodation Conference.

Highlights
T-QUAL Accreditation program
> Implemented two T-QUAL marketing campaigns
comprising a mix of advertising, public relations and
industry communications activities.
> Created nine four-page advertorials that promoted
90 T-QUAL-endorsed products, published in News
Limited’s Sunday Magazine, QWeekend and Sunday
Times Magazine with a total distribution of around
1.7 million.

What Tourism Australia did > Promoted
Indigenous tourism development.

Highlights

> Hosted 26 T-QUAL-endorsed operators in five states
and territories on the T-QUAL tick race.

Indigenous Tourism Champions Program
> Led the program with IBA, promoting Australia’s
top Indigenous tourism products and helping
champions participate in trade and media promotions,
familiarisation visits and consumer campaigns.

> Raised consumer awareness to 31 per cent and
increased the number of respondents who look for the
T-QUAL tick when next planning an Australian holiday
by 9 per cent.

> Educated inbound tour operators and wholesalers
about Indigenous Tourism Champions through trade
newsletters, product updates, champion profiles and
a trade event.

> Attracted nearly 60,000 unique visitors to the
TripAdvisor microsite and achieved nearly 270,000
likes on Instagram.

> Distributed images of champions to consumers,
inbound tour operators, wholesalers and the media,
through the Tourism Australia Image Gallery and a
dedicated Facebook promotion.

> Generated 56 media articles, with an advertising value
equivalency of more than $950,000 and a reach of
nearly 34 million people.

> Ensured the Indigenous image collection is consistently
in the top two most accessed collections on the
image gallery.
> Profiled the Indigenous Tourism Champions at
the ATE and USA New Product and Nature and
Adventure workshops.
> Developed an Indigenous Tourism Champions Aussie
Specialist training module in English and German.
Other activity
> Implemented and reported on activities under Tourism
Australia’s Reconciliation Action Plan, and developed a
new Reconciliation Action Plan for 2013–15.
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> Increased traffic to the trade-focused
aboriginaltourism.australia.com from 5,726 hits
in 2011–12 to 38,734 in 2012–13, before it was
integrated into tourism.australia.com.
> Carried out face-to-face sales training sessions for key
businesses across Germany and North America.

What Tourism Australia did > Promoted the
Australia’s National Landscapes Program.

Highlights
Marketing and communications
> Launched the final three landscapes to complete the
collection of 16.
> Increased unique visitors to the National Landscapes
microsite by 50 per cent, to 116,780.
> Improved the average length of stay on the microsite to
14 minutes.
> Added newly launched landscapes to the Aussie
Specialist National Landscapes training module, which
has now been completed by more than 800 agents.
> Manned a booth at ATE for the first time, as part of
the Best of Australia stand, with exhibitions from
more than 150 nature-based and cultural products
and experiences.
> Created a suite of guidebooks for each landscape
to provide ideas and inspiration for developing
experiences and consistent messaging for
communications and marketing.
> Delivered 22 short documentaries as part of the
Wildiaries Nature Series Filming Project, to profile the
diverse wildlife in Australia’s national landscapes.

> Increased subscribers of bi-monthly stakeholder
newsletter National Landscapes News by 13 per cent
and achieved a high average open rate of 31 per cent.

What Tourism Australia did > Shared tourism
research and insights to help improve the
development of strategies and implementation
of consumer marketing activities.

Highlights
> Profiled the ‘global target customer’ by conducting
specific leisure consumer behaviour research in
key markets.
> Introduced the ‘Insight files’ – a new portal for sharing
consumer insights with stakeholders to help increase
their understanding of trends and developments in
key markets.
> Shared insights about key markets and information
on changing marketing environments through Market
Profile publications, to help improve communication
with target customers.
> Continued a program of consumer demand research,
questioning target customers about their perception
of Australian tourism products and experiences.
> Continued marketing performance research through
specific campaign evaluations across Category 1
markets, providing insights to help refine
marketing activities.
> Hosted 300 participants at the Australian Tourism
Directions Conference in Canberra, with 90 per cent
of delegates rating the event highly.

> Featured five landscapes in monthly Downunder
Travel Bulletin, which is delivered to more than 8,000
international trade subscribers worldwide.
> Worked with Storyteller groups in each landscape to
produce more than 50 news articles about Australia’s
best nature and cultural experiences, which were
delivered to journalists worldwide.
Strategy and reporting
> Hosted the 4th Annual Meeting of State Tourism
and Protected Areas Agencies in Sydney, to share
information about the program’s direction, priorities,
partnerships and activities.
> Held the 2012 National Landscapes Forum in the
Great South West Edge, bringing together participants
from landscape regions, governments and the
Reference Committee.

Before commencement of the Japan television series,
Tourism Australia held an event in Tokyo for media,
bloggers and Facebook fans to ask the show’s celebrities,
Moe Oshikiri and Masaru Nagai, as well as program host
Yukie Sakai, about their favourite experiences in Australia.
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What we did > Engaged industry stakeholders.

Highlights
> Implemented a Stakeholder Engagement Framework
to clarify stakeholder groups, memberships, roles
and responsibilities.
> Held Market Advisory Panel meetings for China,
India, Japan, North America, South Korea and the UK,
providing useful insights and direction for strategy
development and implementation in overseas markets.
> Developed and shared information to heighten
awareness and develop understanding of Australia’s
national tourism strategies, including Essentials, a
weekly e-newsletter distributed to more than 12,000
subscribers, and a monthly Business Events e-newsletter
distributed to 3,000 subscribers.

> Presented at industry and government forums in
Australia, including ATEC Meeting Place, the Australian
Regional Tourism Network Conference, South
Australian Tourism Industry Council Conference, Gold
Coast Adventure Group forum and the Asia-Pacific
Incentives and Meetings Expo.
> Hosted 300 delegates at the Directions Conference and
1,285 industry representatives at industry briefings.
Briefings were held in partnership with state and
territory tourism organisations. Participation was
up 35 per cent from 2011–12 — with 90 per cent of
delegates rating the events highly.
> Held an inaugural Australia Tourism Summit in Los
Angeles, which was well attended and received
positive feedback.
> Hosted quarterly Destination Australia Marketing
Alliance meetings with state and territory
tourism organisations, to discuss new and current
joint activities.
> Launched a dedicated organisation-wide Stakeholder
Relationship Management System to increase the
understanding and sharing of stakeholder information.

Key performance indicators – industry development

Performance indicator

2012–13 target

2012–13 actual

Investment – working with Austrade to achieve
planned deliverables
Investment – conducting introduction/familiarisation
visits to bring investors together
Investment – progress towards Tourism 2020 goal of an
additional 40,000 rooms in capital cities
Aviation access rights – number of seats allowed for
selected inbound markets where capacity is constrained

Achieve planned
deliverables

Achieved planned
deliverables

4

9

Progress towards 40,000
additional rooms

Growth of 1.5per cent
(as at Dec 12)

No target set
(Sep 2011: 16.5 million)

17.6 million
(year ended Sep 2012)

Aviation – number of seats in selected markets where
capacity is controlled (i.e. by Air Service Agreements)

No target set
(Sep 2011: 6.4 million)

6.8 million
(year ended Sep 2012)
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STRENGTHEN THE TRAVEL DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM
Program objective > Work with the tourism industry to develop and present travel products that meet
changing consumer needs, and ensure these products are easily accessible for potential travellers.

What Tourism Australia did > Delivered
the Aussie Specialist Program, including
recruiting and training agents, holding specific
events for retail travel agents and delivering
product information with state and territory
tourism organisations.

What Tourism Australia did > Enhanced
destination and product content in the
distribution system, creating more opportunities
for tourism operators to be involved in Tourism
Australia’s programs and promotions.

Highlights
Highlights
> Improved overall participation in the program,
increasing registered agents by 10 per cent to 25,535,
qualified agents by 2 per cent to 12,565, and agents
in training by 18 per cent to 12,970.
> Achieved outstanding results in a survey of over 3,000
global qualified agents, with 94 per cent responding
that they were satisfied or very satisfied with the
program (up from 93 per cent last year).
> Developed a robust reporting framework to better track
training to qualified conversion levels, memberships
renewals, website statistics and lead generation.
> Updated and refreshed core training modules 1–5 with
shorter content, new images and more videos.
> Launched new training modules, including:
> a National Landscapes module in China, which 225
Aussie Specialists have completed (813 globally)
> an Indigenous Experiences module in Austria,
Canada, France, Germany, Northern Europe,
Switzerland, the UK and the USA, which 452 Aussie
Specialists have completed
> an Aussie Youth Experiences module in Austria,
Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Northern Europe,
Switzerland, the UK and the USA, which 234 Aussie
Specialists have completed

> Developed and launched the 2020
Distribution Strategy.
> Launched new ‘Best of’ categories, including walks
and wine-tasting.
> Produced a ‘Working with Tourism Australia –
Global Marketing Prospectus’ guide, outlining the
opportunities, resources and programs available to
help the tourism industry reach target customers.
> Developed and supported the cruise sector by
working closely with Cruise Down Under on the
‘Cruise Mega Famil’, supported by Qantas and state
and territory partners.
> Developed and supported the youth sector by working
closely with the Backpacker and Youth Tourism
Advisory Panels.
> Developed online tools, social media and
communication channels to help the tourism industry
leverage the Best Jobs in the World campaign.
> Organised the Australian Village at the World Youth
and Student Travel Conference, which enabled industry
and state and territory partners to promote Australia
as a youth destination.
> Showcased Australia’s luxury offerings at the
International Luxury Travel Market in Cannes, with
450 appointments in four days.

> a Great Walks of Australia module in Austria,
Canada, France, Germany, Northern Europe,
Switzerland, the UK and the USA, which 168
Aussie Specialists have completed
> a Great Golf Courses of Australia module in
Northern Europe and the UK, which 24 Aussie
Specialists have completed.
> Arranged familiarisation visits for international travel
agents to build direct connections with the Australian
tourism industry, including Corroboree Europe 2012.
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What Tourism Australia did > Managed and participated in a range of trade events in Australia and overseas to
promote Australia as a destination for leisure and business events travel.

Highlights
> Participated in or coordinated 18 international trade shows, travel markets and trade missions in markets around the
world, enabling Australian tourism businesses to meet travel agents and wholesalers, and build new relationships
and distribution networks.
> Enabled 700 travel wholesale and retail buyers to meet 1,700 representatives from 600 Australian tourism companies
at the ATE, receiving an overall satisfaction rating of 99 per cent from buyers and 96 per cent from sellers.
> Hosted the Australia stand at business events tradeshows including CIBTM in Shanghai, IMEX Frankfurt, IMEX
America, EIBTM in Barcelona, PAICE in New Zealand and the International and European Associations Congress
in Portugal.

Business and trade events and roadshows 2012–13

Event

Held

Country

India Mega Famil and Workshop 2012
China Incentive, Business Travel and
Meetings Exhibition
South East Asia Mission
TTG Incontri
IMEX America
Greater China Travel Mission
World Travel Market
Pacific Area Incentives and
Conferences Expo
European Incentive, Business Travel and
Meetings Exhibition
International Luxury Travel Market
ATEC Meeting Place
Asia Pacific Incentives and Meetings Expo
Internationale Tourismus Börse
European New Product Workshop
Corroboree Europe
ATEC Symposium

1– 6 September 2012
12–14 September 2012

India
China

23–25 September 2012
18–20 October 2012
9–11 October 2012
13–16 November 2012
5–8 November 2012
13 November 2012

Malaysia
Italy
USA
China
UK
New Zealand

27–29 November 2012

Spain

3–6 December 2012
28 November 2012
26–27 February 2013
6–10 March 2013
5–7 February 2013
17–19 May 2013
4–7 June 2013

France
Australia
Australia
Germany
UK
Australia
Australia

8–12 April 2013
9–16 May 2013

Asia
Singapore, Malaysia
and Indonesia
Germany
China
Australia
Portugal

Business Events North Asia Roadshow
Business Events South East
Asia Roadshow
IMEX Frankfurt
International Luxury Travel Market Asia
Australian Tourism Exchange
International and European Associations Congress

21–23 May 2013
3–6 June 2013
26–30 April 2013
21–23 April 2013

Key performance indicators – strengthen the travel distribution system

Performance indicator

2012–13 target

2012–13 actual

Key stakeholder satisfaction – percentage
of stakeholders indicating that Tourism
Australia helps them with their business

75 per cent rate Tourism Australia’s
functions as ‘excellent’, ‘very good’
or ‘good’ value to their business

80 per cent achieved
in June 2013 survey
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Kata Tjuta, NT
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ORGANISATIONAL
STRUCTURE
CHAIRMAN
Geoff Dixon

BOARD
Kate Lamont

Terri Janke

Janet Whiting

Mark Stone

Sandra McPhee, AM

Brett Godfrey

Didier Elzinga

MANAGING DIRECTOR
Andrew McEvoy

CORPORATE
SERVICES

CONSUMER
MARKETING

DESTINATION
DEVELOPMENT

Mark Craig

Nick Baker

Craig Davidson

Frances-Anne
Keeler

Karen Halbert

Finance and
Procurement

Global
Insights

Industry
Development

International
Operations

Government
Relations

Technology

Digital
Marketing

Investment
Attraction

UK and
Northern Europe

Industry
Communications

Campaign
and Brand

Aviation
Development

New Zealand

Media and
Public Affairs

People and
Culture
Legal and
Governance

INTERNATIONAL

CORPORATE AFFAIRS
AND STRATEGY

Americas
Domestic
Marketing

Internal
Communications
South/South East
Asia and Gulf
Strategy and
Corporate Planning

International
Media
Greater China

Japan and
South Korea
Business Events
Continental
Europe
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HUMAN
RESOURCES
Staff statistics
At 30 June 2013, Tourism Australia employed 206
staff. Eighty-six (41 per cent) were employed overseas
and 74 per cent were female (compared to the industry
average of 49 per cent). The Global Leadership Team
comprised 43 per cent women. Tourism Australia’s
workforce is younger than the Australian average,
at 37.8 years old compared to 41.2 years old.
Significant workforce developments during
2012–13 included:
> strong results in the Engagement and Culture
survey indexes
> rejuvenating the Workplace Health and Safety and Joint
Consultative Committees to improve communications
and consultation
> negotiating and implementing the Tourism Australia
Enterprise Agreement 2013–2016
> focusing on executive and leadership learning and
development to ensure that core skills training is
appropriate, cost-effective and consistent
> creating an online careers page and information
channel to enhance Tourism Australia’s digital presence
> educating staff and managers on changes to work
health and safety legislation, including identifying
and addressing work health and safety risks within
business groups.
Indigenous participation
Tourism Australia’s Reconciliation Action Plan aims to
increase demand for Indigenous tourism experiences
by improving trade and consumer awareness of the
experiences’ quality and diversity.
In November 2012, Tourism Australia committed to
achieving 5 per cent Indigenous representation in its
Sydney office by 2014–15. The organisation has entered
into an ongoing partnership with Jawun, a not-forprofit organisation that supports interaction between
Indigenous people and the corporate sector. It is also
enhancing its employment of Indigenous Australians by
collaborating with other Australian Government agencies,
Indigenous stakeholders and their communities.
Tourism Australia has ongoing relationships with
Reconciliation Australia; the Department of Education,
Employment and Workplace Relations; and the Australian
Public Service Commission. The organisation was
also active in the Pathways Indigenous recruitment
initiatives and in the Indigenous Australian Government
Development Program.

Training and development
Tourism Australia has aligned its training and
development plan to its overall corporate strategy,
with an emphasis on behaviour change and leadership
development. In 2012–13, staff from all Tourism
Australia’s offices took part in the Behaviours Program.
The organisation also conducted a highly successful
Emerging Leaders Program. Aimed at a new generation
of leaders, 78 per cent of the Global Leadership Team
participated in the program.
Tourism Australia delivered regular training in Corporate
Governance, including workplace health and safety,
to address new changes in legislation and proactively
manage risk. The organisation also provided technical
training in information and digital technology, social
media, procurement and human resources.
Workplace health and safety
Tourism Australia’s employment policies, procedures
and practices complied with the requirements of the
Occupational Health and Safety Act 1991, the Disability
Discrimination Act 1992, the Racial Discrimination Act
1975 and the Sex Discrimination Act 1984.
Tourism Australia aims to provide a workplace that
is, as far as reasonably practical, safe and healthy for
employees, contractors and visitors; without risk to the
environment; and compliant with relevant legislation,
standards and codes of practice.
Workplace health and safety is governed by an
occupational health and safety framework designed to
identify, analyse, assess, control and monitor workplace
health and safety-related risks involved in Tourism
Australia’s activities. The aim is to protect and develop
Tourism Australia’s key assets: its reputation, people,
finances, infrastructure and intellectual property.
2012–13 health and safety initiatives
Tourism Australia engaged law firm Clayton Utz to
review and provide recommendations on its work health
and safety framework, to ensure it complies with its work
health and safety obligations. Tourism Australia has since
begun a program of work to streamline risk management
practices, including work health and safety risk
management. This includes educating the organisation’s
global workforce on their legal work health and
safety obligations.
Tourism Australia also took special precautions for
large-scale events during the year, such as the ATE.
The organisation appointed external companies to help
ensure safety measures were commensurate with the
estimated level of risk. It also updated its suite of legal
templates to ensure work health and safety-related
expectations and standards were agreed prior to any
work being undertaken for, by or at Tourism Australia.
Health and safety incidents
There were no health and safety incidents reported to
Tourism Australia management during 2012–13.
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Wellbeing
Tourism Australia continued to provide a range of
initiatives that support the wellbeing of its staff, offering
annual health assessments, influenza vaccinations and its
Employee Assistance Program to all staff.
Workers compensation and industrial disputes
In 2012–13, Tourism Australia received no claims for
workers compensation, and no reports of lost time due
to injuries.
There were no industrial disputes during the year.

ENVIRONMENTAL
PERFORMANCE
Energy and waste
Tourism Australia’s Sydney head office moved to the
MidCity complex at 420 George Street in December 2012.
The new office building has an unassisted 5-star rating
under NABERS and a 5-star Green rating.
Tourism Australia continued to minimise its
environmental impact in 2012–13. The organisation
applied duplex printing and copying as a default option
for all staff at its head office; sourced the majority of its
office copy paper from sustainably managed plantations;
and offered recycling systems in workspaces and kitchen
areas for a variety of office supplies and consumables.
Contract cleaners ensured recyclable materials were not
contaminated by food waste.
During the year, Tourism Australia installed more energyefficient printers, and replaced and upgraded video- and
web-conferencing systems at its head office. This has
lowered energy consumption and helped reduce staff
travel emissions.
All lighting in the head office is activated by motion
sensors, set at the lowest workable on/off timing function.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
Chairman’s statement on fraud control
I am satisfied that Tourism Australia has in place
appropriate fraud prevention, detection, investigation,
reporting and data collection procedures and processes,
in line with its fraud risk assessment and fraud control
plan. I am also satisfied that these arrangements meet
the specific needs of Tourism Australia, and that all
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reasonable measures to minimise the incidence of fraud,
as well as investigate and recover the proceeds of fraud,
have been taken. There were no reported fraud incidents
during 2012–13.
Corporate governance
Tourism Australia is committed to implementing
best practice in matters of corporate governance, and
ensuring accountability, integrity, transparency and
efficiency are reflected in its day-to-day operations.
Tourism Australia places a strong emphasis on the
importance of these values by ensuring that:
> there is a focus on project planning and that the
performance of key projects and contracts is
monitored in line with best practice
> there is open communication with the Australian
Government, the Minister and regulatory bodies
> sound risk management policies and procedures
are in place.
The corporate governance section describes Tourism
Australia’s top-level governance arrangements and
provides details on the Board of Directors’ responsibilities,
as well as the main governance practices currently
in place.
Enabling legislation and responsible minister
Tourism Australia’s governance arrangements are
prescribed by the Tourism Australia Act 2004 (TA Act)
and the Commonwealth Authorities and Companies Act
1997 (CAC Act). The TA Act is Tourism Australia’s enabling
legislation and describes the organisation’s specific
objectives, functions and powers. The CAC Act describes
the financial management, accountability and audit
obligations of Commonwealth statutory authorities. As
a portfolio agency, Tourism Australia must also consider
and apply ministerial directions and statements of
expectation that are issued from time to time.
Parliamentary accountability
Tourism Australia is accountable to the Australian
Parliament through the Senate Estimates process, Senate
orders, and the tabling of its annual report and CAC Act
compliance report. Tourism Australia participated in the
Senate Economics Committee’s Supplementary Budget
Estimates Hearings in October 2012, its Additional Budget
Estimates Hearing in February 2013, and its Budget
Estimates Hearing in June 2013.
Board of Directors
Tourism Australia is governed by a nine-person Board
of Directors. As prescribed in Part 3 of the TA Act, the
Board’s main responsibilities are to ensure the proper and
efficient performance of Tourism Australia’s functions,
and to determine Tourism Australia’s policy in relation to
any matter.

Specifically, the Board is accountable for ensuring that
there is an appropriate governance framework in place that
enables Tourism Australia to fulfil its statutory mandate, and
that the organisation acts in line with the general policies,
guidelines and directions of the Australian Government.
Under the Board Charter, the Board’s responsibilities include:
> setting Tourism Australia’s strategic direction, including
approving strategies and targets and establishing policies
> accountability for monitoring Tourism Australia’s business
> communicating with the Minister
> complying with general government policy as directed by
the Minister and according to Tourism Australia’s statutory
obligations as a CAC Act body
> determining, upholding and promoting the Tourism
Australia Values and the Tourism Australia Code of Conduct
> ensuring that the performance of Tourism Australia’s
functions and the exercise of Tourism Australia’s powers are
consistent with, and designed to give effect to, the current
Corporate Plan and the current Annual Operational Plan
> selecting and monitoring the performance of the
Managing Director
> reviewing the performance of executive management
> ensuring good corporate governance, including effective
risk management, legal compliance, strategic direction
and appropriate structure for Tourism Australia.
In addition to these responsibilities, the Board must
balance competing demands on Tourism Australia, remain
independent from executive management, and manage the
particular interests of all stakeholders and the wider public.
Tourism Australia holds directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance to an amount of $100,000,000 with Comcover,
the Australian Government’s general insurance fund.

CONSULTANCIES
AND CONTRACTS
In 2012–13 Tourism Australia had ongoing contracts with
two consultancies with a total value of $159,393. All major
contracts included a requirement for contractors to allow
access to their premises by the Australian National Audit
Office. In accordance with Commonwealth Procurement
Rules, Tourism Australia’s 2012–13 annual procurement
plan and information in regard to all contracts over $400,000
were published on the AusTender website at tenders.gov.au.

Brisbane, QLD
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Record of Board members and meeting attendance in 2012–13

Board member

Position

Date of
appointment

Expiry

Geoff Dixon

1/07/2012

30/06/2015

8

8

1/07/2012

30/06/2015

8

8

Sandra McPhee, AM

Chairman/Nonexecutive Director
Deputy Chair/Nonexecutive Director
Non-executive Director

1/07/2012

30/06/2015

8

8

Terri Janke

Non-executive Director

1/07/2011

30/06/2014

7

8

Janet Whiting

Non-executive Director

1/07/2011

30/06/2014

8

8

Brett Godfrey

Non-executive Director

1/07/2013

30/06/2016

8

8

Mark Stone

Non-executive Director

1/07/2013

30/06/2016

8

8

Didier Elzinga

Non-executive Director

1/07/2013

30/06/2016

8

8

Andrew McEvoy

Managing Director/
Senior Executive

25/01/2010

25/01/2015

8

8

Kate Lamont

Meetings
attended

Eligible to
attend

Board Audit and Finance Committee
Under the CAC Act, Tourism Australia is required to have an Audit and Finance Committee. The Committee provides
independent assurance and assistance to the Board on Tourism Australia’s risk, control and compliance framework,
and financial reporting responsibilities. The Committee is also responsible for advising the Board on Tourism Australia’s
legislative compliance, and internal and external audit programs.

Record of Board Audit and Finance Committee members and meeting attendance 2012–13

Member

Position

Janet Whiting

Chair

7

7

Sandra McPhee, AM

Member

7

7

Didier Elzinga

Member

7

7

Main governance practices
Tourism Australia subscribes to the definition of public
sector governance set out by the Australian National
Audit Office, that: Public sector governance has a
very broad coverage, including how an organisation is
managed, its corporate and other structures, its culture,
its policies and strategies, and the way it deals with its
various stakeholders.
Through the corporate planning process and regular
business evaluations, and through the design of the
annual internal audit program, Tourism Australia can
assess the effectiveness of its governance framework
and its vulnerabilities to new and emerging risks.
Tourism Australia also undertakes:
> systematic scrutiny of operations through its
participation in internal and external audits, and
scrutiny of internal controls set out in organisational
policies and procedures
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Meetings attended

Eligible to attend

> a regular review of key governance documents such
as the Board Charter, the Delegations Policy and
Instrument, the Industry Advisory Panel Guidelines
and the Code of Conduct
> rolling programs of risk assessment and risk planning
> regular training in corporate governance for staff both
in Australia and overseas
> standard internal and external compliance reporting.
Freedom of information
Tourism Australia is required to comply with the Freedom
of Information Act 1982. Tourism Australia received no
Freedom of Information requests during 2012–13.
Tourism Australia publishes information on
tourism.australia.com as part of the Information
Publication Scheme.

Leeuwin Estate Winery, Margaret River, WA
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2012–13 Awards
International 								
Best Leisure Destination (World)			

Travel + Leisure World’s Best Awards 2012, India

India’s Favourite Destination			

Lonely Planet Magazine India Travel Awards

Best Country				Ultratravel 100 Awards, Daily Telegraph, London
Most popular travel destination in Asia Pacific	CNN Consumer Connect: Travel and Tourism 2013
Best destination in Asia Pacific			

Travel Weekly 2012 Readers Choice Awards, USA

Top 5 international destination			Virtuoso Luxe Report, USA
Best-selling destination, South Pacific 		Recommend’s Readers Choice Awards 2012, USA
Favourite Destination				

Beijing News, China

Public Advocated Destination			

Beijing News, China

Best Travel Destination			

Travel + Leisure, World’s Best Awards 2012, China

Best natural attractions, Best adventure travel

Global Traveler, Leisure Travel Awards, USA

Consumer marketing							
Best Instagram Photos			

Travel + Leisure SMITTY Awards, USA

Second, Australia’s top 10 innovative brands		

Business Review Australia

There’s nothing like Australia – Australia’s favourite ad	Mumbrella Awards, Australia
australia.com – Leading tourism authority website

World Travel Awards

Miles per Answer – Best social media campaign

Werben & Verkaufen, Best of Social Media 2012, Germany

Miles per Answer – Social Media Hub Winner	The Holmes Report Silver SABRE Awards, Barcelona
Best website 				Travel d’Or, France
Best Jobs in the World – Best Social Media		TravelMole and EyeforTravel Web Innovation Awards, Singapore
Best integrated marketing strategy		

Voyage Magazine, China

Trade marketing and support
Best national tourism organisation		Globus Awards, Touristik Aktuell, Germany
Long Haul Tourist Office of the Year		

Selling Long Haul Magazine, UK

Business events
2013 Travel winner				

Incentive Magazine Platinum Partner Awards, USA

Return on experience Pillar Award		

Prevue Annual Visionary Awards, USA

Best destination Africa, Asia and South Pacific

Prevue Annual Visionary Awards, USA

Best international incentive travel destination	MICE Golden Chair Award, China
Best tourism bureau of the year			China Business Network, China
Meeting & Incentive Destination (Long Haul) of the Year

2012 China Travel and Meetings Industry Awards

Best overseas national tourist office		TTG China Travel Awards

Aviation							
Destination Marketing Award			Routes Asia Marketing Awards, India
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Statement
By the Board Chairman, Audit and Finance Committee Chairman and Managing Director

In our opinion, the attached financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 are based on properly maintained
financial records and give a true and fair view of the matters required by the Finance Minister’s Orders made under the
Commonwealth Authorities and Companies Act 1997, as amended.
In our opinion, at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that Tourism Australia will be able
to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.
This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Geoff Dixon

Janet Whiting

Board Chairman

Chairperson
Audit and Finance Committee

8 August 2013

8 August 2013

Andrew McEvoy

Mark Craig

Managing Director

General Manager
Corporate Services

8 August 2013

8 August 2013
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Notes

2013

2012

$’000

$’000

Expenses
Employee benefits

3A

28,721

26,445

Supplier expenses

3B

125,745

119,039
4,290

Depreciation and amortisation

3C

3,923

Finance costs

3D

14

–

Write-down and impairment of assets

3E

552

984

Other expenses

3F

3,733

3,621

162,688

154,379

4,019

Total expenses
Less
Own-scource income
Own-source revenue
Advertising

4A

6,120

Interest

4B

2,272

2,962

Contributions revenue

4C

9,221

10,249

Rental income

4D

682

718

Other revenue

4E

11,390

2,524

29,685

20,472

Total own-source revenue
Gains
Foreign exchange

4F

1,144

1,170

Other gains

4G

20

–

Total gains

1,164

1,170

30,849

21,642

131,839

132,737

129,656

132,821

(2,183)

84

Changes in asset revaluation surplus

39

(120)

Total other comprehensive income

39

(120)

(2,144)

(36)

Total own-source income
Net cost of services
Revenue from Government
Surplus attributable to the Australian Government

4H

Other comprehensive income
Items not subject to subsequent reclassification to profit or loss

Total comprehensive income
The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2013

2013

2012

Notes

$’000

$’000

Cash and cash equivalents

5A

21,716

26,854

Trade and other receivables

5B

5,560

3,812

Investments

5C

–

–

27,276

30,666
777

Assets
Financial assets

Total financial assets
Non-Financial assets
Land and buildings

6A

4,488

Property, plant and equipment

6B

599

790

Intangibles

6C

4,293

6,154

Other non-financial assets

6D

2,802

935

Total non-financial assets

12,182

8,656

Total assets

39,458

39,322

Liabilities
Payables
Suppliers

7A

(6,250)

(6,233)

Other payables

7B

(6,633)

(2,221)

(12,883)

(8,454)
(3,764)

Total payables
Provisions
Employee provisions

8A

(3,264)

Other provisions

8B

(864)

(830)

Total provisions

(4,128)

(4,594)

Total liabilities

(17,011)

(13,048)

22,447

26,274

Contributed equity

1,543

1,543

Reserves

1,844

1,805

Retained surplus

19,060

22,926

Total equity

22,447

26,274

Net assets
Equity

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Retained earnings

Asset revaluation
surplus

Contributed
equity/capital

Total equity

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Opening balance
Balance carried forward
from previous year

22,926

25,734

1,805

1,925

1,543

1,543

26,274

29,202

Adjusted opening balance

22,926

25,734

1,805

1,925

1,543

1,543

26,274

29,202

Comprehensive income
Surplus for the year

(2,183)

84

–

–

–

–

(2,183)

84

–

–

39

(120)

–

–

39

(120)

(2,183)

84

39

(120)

–

–

(2,144)

(36)

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Transactions with owners
Equity injection

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Return of foreign
exchange surplus

(1,683)

(2892)

–

–

–

–

(1,683)

(2,892)

Total transactions
with owners

(1,683)

(2892)

–

–

–

–

(1,683)

(2,892)

Closing balance as
at 30 June

19,060

22,926

1,844

1,805

1,543

1,543

22,447

26,274

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2012–2013 ANNUAL REPORT 77

Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Notes

2013

2012

$’000

$’000

129,656

132,821

24,918

20,430

2,315

2,955

Operating Activities
Cash received
Receipts from Government
Sales of goods and rendering of services
Interest
Net GST received
Total cash received

3,673

4,342

160,562

160,548

Cash used
Employees
Suppliers
Total cash used
Net cash from operating activities

9

(29,360)

(26,081)

(132,943)

(126,600)

(162,303)

(152,681)

(1,741)

7,867

Investing Activities
Cash used
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

(1,231)

(369)

Purchase of intangibles

(1,627)

(4,718)

Total cash used

(2,858)

(5,087)

Net cash (used by) investing activities

(2,858)

(5,087)

–

–

–

–

Financing Activities
Cash received
Contributed equity
Total cash received
Cash used
(1,683)

(2,892)

Total cash used

(1,683)

(2,892)

Net cash (used by) financing activities

(1,683)

(2,892)

Net increase in cash held

(6,282)

(112)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

26,854

25,796

Distribution to Government

Effect of exchange rate movements on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

78 Financial Statements

5A

1,170

1,170

21,716

26,854

Schedule of Commitments1
as at 30 June 2013

2013

2012

$’000

$’000

By Type
Commitments receivable2
882

1,607

Net GST recoverable on commitments

4,643

1,780

Total commitments receivable

5,525

3,387

Sublease rental income

Commitments payable
Other Commitments
Operating leases3

(24,593)

(6,129)

Other commitments4

(35,109)

(23,213)

Total other commitments

(59,702)

(29,342)

Net commitments by type

(54,177)

(25,955)

One year or less

2,267

2,063

From one to five years

2,285

1,324

By Maturity
Commitments receivable
Other commitments receivable

Over five years
Total other commitments receivable

973

–

5,525

3,387

Commitments payable
Operating lease commitments
(4,463)

(3,633)

(10,402)

(2,496)

(9,728)

–

(24,593)

(6,129)

One year or less

(22,113)

(14,566)

From one to five years

(12,996)

(8,647)

Total other commitments

(35,109)

(23,213)

Net commitments by maturity

(54,177)

(25,955)

One year or less
From one to five years
Over five years
Total operating lease commitments
Other commitments

Notes:
1. Commitments are GST inclusive where relevant.
2. Commitments receivable comprises sublease rental receivable and GST recoverable.
3. Operating leases comprise leases for office accommodation and equipment leases.
4. Other commitments comprise amounts payable under project agreements in respect of which
the recipient is yet to either perform the services required or meet eligibility conditions.
The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Schedule of Commitments
as at 30 June 2013

Nature or lease

General description of leasing arrangement

Lease for office accommodation

The lease payments for some offices are subject to annual increases in
accordance with the terms of the leases. The initial periods of the office
accommodation leases are still current and some of the leases may be
renewed for up to five years at Tourism Australia’s option, with adjustment
of rentals according to the terms of the leases.

Leases in relation to computer
equipment held as at 30 June 2013

The lessors provide all computer equipment and software designated as
necessary in the supply contract for two to three years. Items of computer
equipment supplied under these leases have useful lives of two to three
years from the commencement of the contracts.

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes
Note 1: Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies

1.2 Basis of Preparation of the
Financial Statements

1.1 Objectives of Tourism Australia

1(b) of Schedule 1 to the Commonwealth Authorities and

Tourism Australia is an Australian Government statutory
authority. The objective is to promote tourism to and
within Australia. Its revenues are sourced primarily via
Government funding and industry revenues. Tourism
Australia’s activities to promote Australia as an
international tourist destination are focused primarily
overseas, with the majority of expenditure incurred via
Tourism Australia’s international offices in Europe, Asia,
North America, Japan and New Zealand.

Companies Act 1997 (CAC Act) and are general purpose

Tourism Australia is structured to meet one outcome:
Outcome 1: Tourism Australia seeks to increase demand
for Australia as a destination, strengthen the travel
distribution system and contribute to the development of a
sustainable tourism industry through consumer marketing,
trade development and research activities.
Tourism Australia’s statutory objectives are to:
> influence people to travel to Australia, including
for events
> influence people travelling to Australia to also travel
throughout Australia
> influence Australians to travel throughout Australia,
including for events
> help foster a sustainable tourism industry in Australia
> help increase the economic benefits to Australia
from tourism.

The financial statements and notes are required by clause

financial statements.
The financial statements and notes have been prepared in
accordance with:
> Finance Minister’s Orders (FMOs) for reporting periods
ending on or after 1 July 2011; and
> Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board
(AASB) that apply for the reporting period.
The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual
basis and in accordance with historical cost convention,
except for certain assets and liabilities at fair value. Except
where stated, no allowance is made for the effect of
changing prices on the results or the financial position.
The financial statements are presented in Australian
dollars, and values are rounded to the nearest thousand
dollars unless otherwise specified.
Unless an alternative treatment is specifically required
by an accounting standard or FMO, assets and liabilities
are recognised in the balance sheet when and only when
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to
Tourism Australia or a future sacrifice of economic benefits

Three Output Groups were identified for this outcome.

will be required and the amounts of the assets or liabilities

Output Group 1 – Industry market development
Contribute to the development of a sustainable tourism
industry through stakeholder engagement and provision
of insights to assist strategic decision making.

can be reliably measured. However, assets and liabilities

Output Group 2 – Strengthen the travel distribution system
Educate trade partners to improve sales capability, facilitate
engagement and business between Australian tourism
products and the distribution network, and motivate and
inspire consumers through quality content.

Commitments or the Schedule of Contingencies.

Output Group 3 – Increase demand for Australia as
a destination
Build Australia’s profile and reputation as an exciting,
desirable leisure and business events destination, driving
demand and subsequently visitation.

has occurred and can be reliably measured.

The continued existence of Tourism Australia in its present
form and with its present programs is dependent on
Government policy and on continuing funding by Parliament
for Tourism Australia’s administration and programs.
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arising under executor contracts are not recognised unless
required by an accounting standard. Liabilities and assets
that are unrecognised are reported in the Schedule of
Unless alternative treatment is specifically required by an
accounting standard, income and expenses are recognised
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when and only
when the flow, consumption or loss of economic benefits

1.3 Significant Accounting Judgements
and Estimates
No accounting assumptions or estimates have been
identified that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next reporting period.

Notes
1.4 New Australian Accounting Standards
Adoption of new Australian Accounting
Standard requirements
No accounting standard has been adopted earlier than
the application date as stated in the standard.
No new accounting standards, revised standards,
interpretations or amended standards that were issued
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and are
applicable to the current reporting period have had a
material financial impact on Tourism Australia and are not
expected to have a future material financial impact on
Tourism Australia.
Future Australian Accounting Standard requirements
No new accounting standards, revised standards,
interpretations or amended standards that were issued
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and are
applicable to future reporting periods, are expected to have
a future material financial impact on Tourism Australia.

1.5 Revenue
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when:
> the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer
> the seller retains no managerial involvement or effective
control over the goods
> the revenue and transaction costs incurred can be
reliably measured
> it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to Tourism Australia.
Revenue from rendering of services is recognised by
reference to the stage of completion of contracts at the
reporting date. The revenue is recognised when:
> the amount of revenue, stage of completion and
transaction costs incurred can be reliably measured
> the probable economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to Tourism Australia
The stage of completion of contracts at the reporting
date is determined by reference to the proportion that
costs incurred to date bear to the estimated total costs
of the transaction.
Receivables for goods and services, which have 30-day
terms, are recognised at the nominal amounts due less
any impairment allowance account. Collectability of debts
is reviewed at balance date. Allowances are made when
collectability of the debt is no longer probable.
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest
method as set out in AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement.

Resources received free of charge
Resources received free of charge are recognised as revenue
when and only when a fair value can be reliably determined
and the services would have been purchased if they had
not been donated. Use of those resources is recognised as
an expense. Resources received free of charge are recorded
as either revenue or gains, depending on their nature.
Contributions of assets at no cost of acquisition or
for nominal consideration are recognised as gains at
their fair value when the asset qualifies for recognition,
unless received from another Government agency
or authority as a consequence of a restructuring of
administrative arrangements.
Revenue from Government
Funding received or receivable from agencies (appropriated to
the agency as a CAC Act body payment item for payment to
Tourism Australia) is recognised as revenue from Government
unless it is in the nature of an equity injection or a loan.
Parental Leave Payment Scheme
Amount received under the Paid Parental Leave Scheme
by Tourism Australia not yet paid to employees were
presented gross as cash and a liability (payable). The total
amount received under this scheme is disclosed as a
footnote to Note 4H: Revenue from Government.

1.6 Gains
Resources received free of charge
Resources received free of charge are recognised as
gains when, and only when, a fair value can be reliably
determined and the services would have been purchased
if they had not been donated. Use of those resources is
recognised as an expense.
Resources received free of charge are recorded as either
revenue or gains, depending on their nature.
Contributions of assets at no cost of acquisition or for nominal
consideration are recognised as gains at their fair value when
the asset qualifies for recognition, unless received from
another Government agency or authority as a consequence
of a restructuring of administrative arrangements.
Sale of assets
Gains from disposal of assets are recognised when control
of the asset has passed to the buyer.

1.7 Transactions with the Government as Owner
Equity injection
Amounts that are designated as equity injections for a year
are recognised directly in contributed equity in that year.
Restructuring of administrative arrangements
Net assets received from or relinquished to another
Government entity under a restructuring of administrative
arrangements are adjusted at their book value directly
against contributed equity.
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Notes
Other distributions to owners
The FMOs require that distributions to owners be debited
to contributed equity unless it is in the nature of a dividend.

1.8 Employee Benefits
Liabilities for short-term employee benefits (as defined in
AASB 119 Employee Benefits) and termination benefits due
within 12 months of the reporting period are measured at
their nominal amounts. The nominal amount is calculated
with regard to the rates expected to be paid on settlement
of the liability.
Other long-term employee benefits are measured as net
total of the present value of the defined benefit obligation
at the end of the reporting period minus the fair value at
the end of the reporting period of plan assets (if any) out of
which the obligations are to be settled directly.
Leave
The liability for employee benefits includes provision for
annual leave, long service leave, time off in lieu, bonus leave
and purchased leave. No provision has been made for sick
leave as all sick leave is non-vesting and the average sick leave
taken in future years by employees of Tourism Australia is
estimated to be less than the annual entitlement for sick leave.
The leave liabilities are calculated on the basis of employees’
remuneration at the estimated salary rates that will be
applied at the time the leave is taken, including Tourism
Australia’s employer superannuation contribution rates, to
the extent that the leave is likely to be taken during service
rather than paid out on termination.
The liability for long service leave has been determined by
reference to the present value of the estimated future cash
flows to be made in respect of all employees as at
30 June 2013. The estimate of the present value of the
liability takes into account attrition rates and pay increases
through promotion and inflation.
Separation and redundancy
Provision is made for separation and redundancy benefit
payments. Tourism Australia recognises a provision for
termination when it has developed a detailed formal plan
for the terminations and has informed those employees
that it will carry out the terminations. Tourism Australia
incurred or provided $1.5 million (2012: $408,000) in
separation or redundancy costs during the current
financial year.
Superannuation
In Australia, staff of Tourism Australia are members of the
Australian Government Employee Superannuation Trust
(AGEST), the Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme (CSS),
the Public Sector Superannuation Scheme (PSS), the PSS
accumulation plan (PSSap) or a plan of their own choice.
The CSS and PSS are defined benefit schemes for the
Australian Government. The AGEST and PSSap are
accumulation schemes.
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The liability for defined benefits is recognised in the
financial statements of the Australian Government and
is settled by the Australian Government in due course.
This liability is reported in the Department of Finance and
Deregulation’s administered schedules and notes.
Tourism Australia makes employer contributions to the
defined benefit schemes at rates determined by an actuary
to be sufficient to meet the current cost to the Government
of the superannuation entitlements of Tourism Australia’s
employees. Tourism Australia accounts for these contributions
as if they were contributions to defined contribution plans.
The liability for superannuation recognised as at 30 June
2013 represents outstanding contributions for the final
fortnight of the year.
The contribution rate for Tourism Australia as a Group 2
Authority was 9 per cent for AGEST (2011–12: 9 per cent),
18.4 per cent for CSS (2011–12: 18.4 per cent), 12.9 per cent
for PSS (2011–12: 11.2 per cent), 15.4 per cent for PSSap
(2011–12: 15.4 per cent) and other choice of fund between
9 per cent to 15.4 per cent of salaries in 2012–13.
In addition, Tourism Australia remitted Employer
Productivity Superannuation Contributions to ComSuper for
employees in defined benefits schemes only. The contribution
rate was variable and banded according to earnings between
2 per cent and 3 per cent of salaries in 2012–13.
In Hong Kong, in accordance with local regulations, Tourism
Australia provided superannuation for its locally engaged
staff with HSBC Life (International) Ltd. The contribution
rate was 11.5 per cent of gross salaries in 2012–13 for staff
that joined before 1 December 2000 (11.5 per cent in
2011–12). Tourism Australia matched employees’
contributions up to a maximum of 5 per cent of gross salary
in 2012–13. (The contribution rate was 5 per cent of gross
salary in 2011–12 for staff who joined after
1 December 2000 under the new mandatory provident
fund regulations).
In India, Tourism Australia provided superannuation for its
locally engaged staff with Provident Fund. The contribution
rate was 13 per cent of base pay and the associated
administration fees varied between 1.13 per cent and
1.39 per cent since 2009.
In Malaysia, Tourism Australia provided superannuation
for its locally engaged staff with Provident Fund at a rate
of 12 per cent.
In Singapore, Tourism Australia provided superannuation
for its locally engaged staff with the Central Provident Fund
at a regulated rate of 15.5 per cent (capped at a monthly
ceiling of SGD4,500) until August 2011. From September
2011, the contribution rate was 16 per cent (capped at a
monthly ceiling of SGD5,000).

Notes
In Korea, Tourism Australia provided superannuation for its
locally engaged staff with funds run by National Pension.
The contribution rate was 4.5 per cent of salaries in 2012–13
(4.5 per cent in 2011–12).
In China, Tourism Australia provided superannuation for its
locally engaged staff with the local official agency FESCO.
The monthly contribution for resident staff is between
39 per cent - 44 per cent of index salary (set annually by the
local government) per staff member in 2012–13 and the
contribution ranged from around CNY2,100 to CNY6,600
(unchanged from 2011–12).
In Japan, Tourism Australia provided superannuation for
its locally engaged staff with Japan’s National Pension
Scheme, where the contribution rate was 8.206 per cent
of salaries with an annual limit of JPY610,526 in 2012–13
(8.206 per cent in 2011–12).

Tourism Australia has not entered into any finance leases.
Operating lease payments are expensed on a straightline basis that is representative of the pattern of benefits
derived from the leased assets.

1.10 Borrowing Costs
All borrowing costs from the unwinding of ‘make good’
provisions are expensed as incurred.

1.11 Cash
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and
demand deposits in bank accounts with an original maturity
of three months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of
changes in value. Cash is recognised at its nominal amount.

In the USA, Tourism Australia provided an optional
employee retirement benefit for its locally engaged staff
in Los Angeles with Mutual of America. Tourism Australia
matched employees’ contributions up to a maximum of
3 per cent of gross salary in 2012–13 with an annual
limit of US$11,500 for employees less than 50 years.
For employees who are 50 years or older, the limit is
US$14,000. These limits apply to employee contributions
only on a calendar year basis.

1.12 Financial Assets

In the UK, in accordance with locally engaged terms and
conditions of employment, Tourism Australia provided a
group personal pension scheme for its locally engaged staff
in London with Standard Life Assurance Co. Contributions
to the scheme were fixed at 10 per cent in 2012–13
(10 per cent in 2011–12).

Held-to-maturity investments
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturity dates that Tourism Australia
has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity
are classified as held-to-maturity investments. Held-tomaturity investments are recorded at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method less impairment, with
revenue recognised on an effective yield basis.

In Germany, Tourism Australia contributed an inclusive
social amount to the statutory insurance government fund
for its locally engaged staff. Tourism Australia matched
staff contributions on a 1:1 basis. The contribution rate is
not separately nominated.
In New Zealand, Tourism Australia provides the opportunity
for all staff to join the New Zealand Government
superannuation scheme — Kiwisaver. The scheme is not
mandatory for locally engaged staff; however, Tourism
Australia currently contributes 4 per cent towards the
scheme — whereby staff can contribute between the
equivalent amount of 2 per cent, 4 per cent or 8 per cent,
depending on the employee’s preference.

1.9 Leases
A distinction is made between finance leases and operating
leases. Finance leases effectively transfer from the lessor to
the lessee substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of leased assets. An operating lease is a lease
that is not a finance lease. In operating leases, the lessor
effectively retains substantially all such risks and benefits.

Tourism Australia classifies its financial assets as ‘loans and
receivables’ and ‘held-to-maturity investments’.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of
the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition.
Financial assets are recognised and derecognised upon
‘trade date’.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’.
Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method less impairment.
Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest rate.
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets are assessed for impairment at the end of
each reporting period.
Financial assets carried at amortised cost: if there is objective
evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred for
loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments held
at amortised cost, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying
amount is reduced by way of an allowance account. The loss
is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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Financial assets carried at cost: if there is objective evidence
that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of
the impairment loss is the difference between the carrying
amount of the asset and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate for
similar assets.

1.13 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, or other
financial liabilities. Financial liabilities are recognised and
derecognised upon ‘trade date’.
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
initially measured at fair value. Subsequent fair value
adjustments are recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest
paid on the financial liability.
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value,
net of transaction costs. These liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, with interest expense recognised on an effective
yield basis.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability or, where appropriate, a shorter period.
Supplier expenses and other payables
Supplier and other payables are recognised at cost.
Liabilities are recognised to the extent that the goods or
services have been received (and irrespective of having
been invoiced).

1.14 Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are not recognised
in the Balance Sheet but are reported in the relevant
schedules and notes. They may arise from uncertainty as to
the existence of a liability or asset, or represent an existing
liability or asset in respect of which settlement is not probable
or the amount cannot be reliably measured. Contingent assets
are reported when settlement is probable but not virtually
certain, and contingent liabilities are recognised when the
possibility of settlement is greater than remote.

1.15 Financial Guarantee Contracts
Tourism Australia had no financial guarantee contracts
during the financial year.
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1.16 Acquisition of Assets
Assets are recorded at cost on acquisition except as stated
below. The cost of acquisition includes the fair value of
assets transferred in exchange and liabilities undertaken.
Financial assets are initially measured at their fair value plus
transaction costs where appropriate.
Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, are
initially recognised as assets and income at their fair value
at the date of acquisition, unless acquired as a consequence
of restructuring of administrative arrangements. In the
latter case, assets are initially recognised as contributions by
owners at the amounts at which they were recognised in the
transferor’s accounts immediately prior to the restructuring.

1.17 Property, Plant and Equipment
Asset recognition threshold
Purchases of property, plant and equipment are recognised
initially at cost in the Balance Sheet, except for purchases
costing less than $5,000, which are expensed in the year of
acquisition (other than where they form part of a group of
similar items which are significant in total).
The initial cost of an asset includes an estimate of the
cost of dismantling and removing the item and restoring
the site on which it is located. This is particularly relevant
to ‘make good’ provisions in property leases taken up by
Tourism Australia where there exists an obligation to
restore the property to its original condition. These costs
are included in the value of Tourism Australia’s leasehold
improvements with a corresponding provision for the
‘make good’ recognised.
Revaluations
Valuations undertaken in each year are as at 30 June.
Fair values for each class of asset are determined as
shown below.
Asset class
Leasehold improvements
Plant and equipment

Fair value measured at
Depreciated replacement cost
Depreciated replacement cost

Following initial recognition at cost, property, plant and
equipment was carried at fair value less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. Valuations were conducted with sufficient frequency
to ensure that the carrying amounts of assets did not differ
materially from the assets’ fair values as at the reporting
date. The regularity of independent valuations depended
upon the volatility of movements in market values for the
relevant assets.
Revaluation adjustments were made on a class basis. Any
revaluation increment was credited to equity under the
heading of asset revaluation reserve, except to the extent

Notes
that it reversed a previous revaluation decrement of the
same asset class that was previously recognised in the
surplus/deficit. Revaluation decrements for a class of assets
were recognised directly in the surplus/deficit, except
to the extent that they reversed a previous revaluation
increment for that class.
Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date
was eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the
asset and the asset was restated to the revalued amount.
Depreciation
Depreciable property, plant and equipment assets are
written off to their estimated residual values over their
estimated useful lives to Tourism Australia using, in all
cases, the straight-line method of depreciation. Leasehold
improvements are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the lesser of the estimated useful life of the improvements
or the unexpired period of the lease.
Depreciation rates (useful lives), residual values and
methods are reviewed at each reporting date and necessary
adjustments are recognised in the current period, or future
reporting periods, as appropriate.
Depreciation rates applying to each class of depreciable
asset are based on the following useful lives:
2013
Leasehold improvements
Plant and equipment

2012

Lease term

Lease term

3 to 10 years

3 to 10 years

Impairment
All assets are assessed for impairment at 30 June. Where
indications of impairment exist, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated and an impairment adjustment
made if the asset’s recoverable amount is less than its
carrying amount.

Software is amortised on a straight-line basis over its
anticipated useful life. The useful lives of Tourism Australia’s
software are two to five years. All software assets are
assessed for indications of impairment as at 30 June.
Campaign production is amortised on a straight-line basis
over three years. The campaign production was assessed
for indications of impairment as at 30 June.
The useful life of trade marks is estimated at 10 years.

1.19 Taxation
Tourism Australia is exempt from all forms of taxation in
Australia except for Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) and the Goods
and Services Tax (GST).
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of
GST, except:
> where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable
from the Australian Taxation Office
> for receivables and payables.
Tourism Australia is exempt from all foreign taxation laws
except for any consumption taxes.

Note 2: Events After the
Reporting Period
There was no subsequent event that had the potential to
significantly affect the ongoing structure and financial
activities of the entity.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use. Value in use is
the present value of the future cash flows expected to be
derived from the asset. Where the future economic benefit
of an asset is not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability
to generate future cash flows, and the asset would be
replaced if the entity were deprived of the asset, its value in
use is taken to be its depreciated replacement cost.
Derecognition
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no further economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal.

1.18 Intangibles
Tourism Australia’s intangibles comprise internally
developed software for internal use, campaign
production and trade marks. These assets are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses.
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Note 3: Expenses
Expenses

2013

2012

$’000

$’000

(22,283)

(21,364)

Note 3A: Employee benefits
Wages and salaries
Superannuation:
(498)

(443)

(1,727)

(1,647)

Leave and other entitlements

(1,986)

(1,876)

Separation and redundancies

(1,526)

(408)

Defined benefit plans
Defined contribution plans

Other employee benefits expense
Total employee benefits

(701)

(707)

(28,721)

(26,445)

Note 3B: Suppliers
Goods and services
Advertising

(78,395)

(69,039)

Promotion and publicity

(21,476)

(22,324)

Films, publications and distribution

(4,821)

(6,310)

Information systems and telecommunications

(6,848)

(6,000)

Research, service fees and travel

(9,555)

(10,289)

(121,095)

(113,962)

(4,638)

(5,062)

Total goods and services
Other supplier expenses
Operating lease rentals:
Minimum lease payments

(12)

(15)

(4,650)

(5,077)

(125,745)

(119,039)

(772)

(807)

(772)

(807)

Computer software

(1,066)

(1,581)

Campaign production

(1,963)

(1,841)

Workers compensation premiums
Total other supplier expenses
Total supplier expenses
Note 3C: Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation
Infrastructure, plant and equipment
Total depreciation
Amortisation
Intangibles:

Trademarks

(11)

(10)

‘Make good’

(111)

(51)

Total amortisation

(3,151)

(3,483)

Total depreciation and amortisation

(3,923)

(4,290)

Unwinding of discount for ‘make good’

(14)

–

Total finance costs

(14)

–

Note 3D: Finance costs
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Note 3: Expenses (continued)
2013

2012

$’000

$’000

Impairment on intangible assets – campaign production and trade marks

(154)

(850)

Impairment on intangible assets – computer hardware and software

(362)

–

(36)

(134)

(552)

(984)

Other operating expenses

(3,733)

(3,621)

Total other expenses

(3,733)

(3,621)

Expenses
Note 3E: Write-down and impairment of assets
Asset write-down and impairments from:

Write-down of non-financial assets
Total write-down and impairments of assets
Note 3F: Other expenses

Note 4: Income
Own-Source Revenue

2013

2012

$’000

$’000

Note 4A: Sale of Goods and Rendering of Services
Provision of services

6,120

4,019

Total sale of goods and rendering of services

6,120

4,019

Note 4B: Interest
Deposits

2,272

2,962

Total interest

2,272

2,962

Note 4C: Contributions revenue
Industry contributions*

9,221

10,249

Total contributions revenue

9,221

10,249

* Industry contributions reflect the actual value of industry support for Tourism Australia’s activities from direct revenue. In addition to direct
revenues from the industry, joint marketing programs were undertaken. Through these programs the industry supplements funds provided
by Tourism Australia for product development, visiting journalists and tactical marketing programs. Due to the nature of the programs, these
funds do not form part of the reported level of industry contributions for Tourism Australia, but are in addition to it.

Note 4D: Rental income
Operating lease:
Office sub-tenancies
Total rental income

682

718

682

718

Note 4E: Other revenue
1,045

1,024

Payments from other Government bodies

10,345

1,500

Total other revenue

11,390

2,524

Other revenue
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Note 4: Income (continued)
Gains

2013

2012

$’000

$’000

Note 4F: Foreign exchange
Non-speculative

1,144

1,170

Total foreign exchange gains

1,144

1,170

Note 4G: Other gains
20

–

–

–

20

–

CAC Act body payment

129,656

132,821

Total revenue from Government

129,656

132,821

Reversal of restoration provision
Reversal of impairment losses
Total other gains
Revenue from Government
Note 4H: Revenue from Government*
Department of Resources, Energy and Tourism:

* Tourism Australia received $62,000 (2012: $34,000) under the Paid Parental Leave scheme.

Note 5: Financial Assets

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

19,931

23,781

Note 5A: Cash and cash equivalents
Australian dollars

79

78

Chinese yuan

438

860

Euro

291

318

Great British pounds

130

433

66

174

140

19

Canadian dollars

Hong Kong dollars
Japanese yen

41

99

Malaysia ringgit

139

59

New Zealand dollars

109

260

Singapore dollars

189

414

Thai baht

55

64

Indian rupee

17

48

United States dollars

35

233

South Korean won

Taiwan dollars
Cash at bank or on deposit
Cash on hand
Total cash and cash equivalents
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53

8

21,713

26,848

3

6

21,716

26,854

Notes
Note 5: Financial Assets (continued)

2013
$’000

2012
$’000

4,210

1,461

Note 5B: Trade and other receivables
Goods and services
GST receivable from the Australian Taxation Office

427

991

Deposit and advances

919

1,328
54

Other:
Interest

11

Other receivables

19

–

Total other receivables

30

54

5,586

3,834

Total trade and other receivables (gross)
Less impairment allowance account:
Goods and services
Total trade and other receivables (net)

(26)

(22)

5,560

3,812

5,360

3,549

Receivables are aged as follows
Not overdue
Overdue by:
187

259

30 to 60 days

–

25

61 to 90 days

22

1

More than 90 days

17

–

5,586

3,834

30 to 60 days

–

(21)

61 to 90 days

(9)

(1)

Less than 30 days

Total receivables (gross)
The impairment allowance account is aged as follows
Overdue by:

More than 90 days
Total impairment allowance account

(17)

–

(26)

(22)

(22)

(29)

Reconciliation of the impairment allowance account
Goods and services
Opening balance
Amounts reversed
Closing balance

(4)

7

(26)

(22)

Receivables are expected to be recovered in
No more than 12 months
Total trade and other receivables (net)

5,560

3,812

5,560

3,812

Note 5C: Investments
Shares in other company – unlisted (at cost)
Less: Provision for diminution in value
Total investments

400

400

(400)

(400)

–

–

–

–

–

–

Investments are expected to be recovered in
More than 12 months
Total investments

Tourism Australia holds 11.9 per cent interest in Australian Tourism Data Warehouse Pty Limited (ATDW), which is carried at cost less provision
for diminution in value. ATDW’s principal activity is the development of a database for Australian Tourism Products.
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Note 6: Non-Financial Assets
2013

2012

$’000

$’000

Note 6A: Land and buildings
Leasehold improvements
220

75

Fair value

11,063

7,065

Accumulated depreciation

(7,321)

(6,483)

3,962

658

In progress

Total leasehold improvements
Leasehold improvements make good
Fair value
Accumulated depreciation
Total leasehold improvements make good
Total land and buildings

788

692

(262)

(573)

526

119

4,488

777

Tourism Australia entered into a new lease for its Sydney Office in 2012–13. Under this lease, Tourism Australia received a $5.1 million lease
incentive which was partly applied to leasehold improvements of $3.4 million in 2012–13.
Some minor items of equipment, furniture and fittings were sold and disposed of as part of the Sydney office move in December 2012.
No indicators of impairment were found for land and builidings.
No land or buildings were expected to be sold or disposed of within the next 12 months.

Note 6B: Infrastructure, plant and equipment
Computer and office equipment
Fair value
In progress
Accumulated depreciation
Impairment losses
Total computer and office equipment

1,732

1,530

143

–

(1,270)

(867)

(102)

–

503

663

Furniture and fittings
Fair value
Accumulated depreciation
Total furniture and fittings
Total infrastructure, plant and equipment
No property, plant or equipment is expected to be sold or disposed of within the next 12 months.

92 Notes to the Financial Statements

414

407

(318)

(280)

96

127

599

790

Notes
Note 6: Non-Financial Assets (continued)
2013

2012

$’000

$’000

11,658

10,987

Note 6C: Intangibles
Software at cost
In use
In progress
Accumulated amortisation
Write back amortisation
Impairment losses
Total software

465

–

(10,537)

(9,472)

(34)

–

(260)

–

1,292

1,515

Campaign production at cost
165

–

In use

12,698

12,458

Accumulated amortisation

(9,808)

(6,990)

In progress

Impairment losses
Total campaign production

(144)

(850)

2,911

4,618

108

108

Trade marks
At cost

90

–

Accumulated amortisation

(98)

(87)

Impairment losses

(10)

–

90

21

4,293

6,154

Prepayments

1,142

935

Lease incentive

1,660

–

Total other non-financial assets

2,802

935

No more than 12 months

1,326

935

More than 12 months

1,476

–

2,802

935

In progress

Total trade marks
Total intangibles
No intangibles are expected to be sold or disposed of within the next 12 months.

Note 6D: Other non-financial assets

Total other non-financial assets are expected to be recovered in:

Total other non-financial assets
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Note 6: Non-Financial Assets (continued)
Note 6E: Reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of
property, plant and equipment (2012–13)
As at 1 July 2012
Gross book value
Accumulated depreciation/amortisation and impairment
Net book value 1 July 2012

Buildings
$’000

Plant and
equipment
$’000

Total
$’000

7,833
(7,056)

1,937
(1,147)

9,770
(8,203)

777

790

1,567

Additions
By purchase
Effect of exchange rate movements
Revaluation on ‘make good’
Depreciation/amortisation expense
Disposals
Impairment recognised in other comprehensive income
Reversal depreciation lease incentive

4,234
49
39
(401)
(31)
–
(179)

392
1
–
(482)
–
(102)
–

4,626
50
39
(883)
(31)
(102)
(179)

Net book value 30 June 2013

4,488

599

5,087

12,071
(7,583)

2,290
(1,691)

14,361
(9,274)

4,488

599

5,087

Buildings
$’000

Plant and
equipment
$’000

Total
$’000

10,583
(9,516)

2,697
(1,574)

13,280
(11,090)

1,067

1,123

2,190

143
29
(3,375)
(420)
3,333

188
9
(1,032)
(438)
940

331
38
(4,407)
(858)
4,273

777

790

1,567

7,833
(7,056)

1,937
(1,147)

9,770
(8,203)

777

790

1,567

Net book value as at 30 June 2013, represented by:
Gross book value
Accumulated depreciation/amortisation and impairment
Net book value 30 June 2013

Note 6E (cont’d): Reconciliation of the opening and closing
balances of property, plant and equipment (2011–12)
As at 1 July 2011
Gross book value
Accumulated depreciation/amortisation and impairment
Net book value 1 July 2011
Additions
By purchase
Effect of foreign exchange movements
Disposals
Depreciation/amortisation expense
Write-back of depreciation
Net book value 30 June 2012
Net book value as of 30 June 2012 represented by:
Gross book value
Accumulated depreciation/amortisation and impairment
Net book value 30 June 2012
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Note 6: Non-Financial Assets (continued)
Computer
software
internally
developed
$’000

Campaign
production
$’000

Trademarks
$’000

Total
$’000

10,987

12,458

108

23,553

(9,472)

(7,840)

(87)

(17,399)

Net book value 1 July 2012

1,515

4,618

21

6,154

Additions
By purchase or internally developed

1,137

397

90

1,624

–

3

–

3

–
(1,066)

–
(1,963)

–
(11)

–
(3,040)

(260)

(144)

(10)

(414)

Note 6F: Reconciliation of the opening and
closing balances of intangibles (2012–13)
As at 1 July 2012
Gross book value
Accumulated depreciation/amortisation and
impairment

Effect of exchange rate movements
Disposals
Amortisation
Impairment recognised in other
comprehensive income
Write-back of amortisation
Net book value 30 June 2013
Net book value as of 30 June 2012 represented by:
Gross book value
Accumulated depreciation/amortisation and
impairment
Net book value 30 June 2013

Note 6F (cont'd): Reconciliation of the opening
and closing balances of intangibles (2011–12)
As at 1 July 2011
Gross book value
Accumulated depreciation/amortisation
and impairment
Net book value 1 July 2011
Additions:
By purchase or internally developed
Disposals
Amortisation
Impairment recognised in other
comprehensive income
Write-back of amortisation
Net book value 30 June 2012
Net book value as of 30 June 2012 represented by:
Gross book value
Accumulated depreciation/amortisation
and impairment
Net book value 30 June 2012

(34)

–

–

(34)

1,292

2,911

90

4,293

12,123

12,864

198

25,185

(10,831)

(9,953)

(108)

(20,892)

1,292

2,911

90

4,293

Computer
software
internally
developed
$’000

Campaign
production
$’000

Trademarks
$’000

Total
$’000

10,419

8,306

108

18,833

(7,890)

(5,149)

(76)

(13,115)

2,529

3,157

32

5,718

567
–
(1,581)

4,152
–
(1,841)

–
–
(11)

4,719
–
(3,433)

–

(850)

–

(850)

–

–

–

–

1,515

4,618

21

6,154

10,987

12,458

108

23,553

(9,472)

(7,840)

(87)

(17,399)

1,515

4,618

21

6,154
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Note 7: Payables
2013

2012

$’000

$’000

Trade creditors and accruals

(6,250)

(6,233)

Total supplier payables

(6,250)

(6,233)

External parties

(6,250)

(6,233)

Total supplier payables

(6,250)

(6,233)

(784)

(580)

Note 7A: Suppliers

Supplier payables expected to be settled within 12 months

Settlement is usually made within 30 days.

Note 7B: Other payables
Salaries and wages
Superannuation
Prepayment received/unearned income

(55)

(42)

(813)

(1,233)

Other liabilities

(4,981)

(366)

Total other payables

(6,633)

(2,221)

No more than 12 months

(1,831)

(2,159)

More than 12 months

(4,802)

(62)

(6,633)

(2,221)

Total other payables are expected to be settled in:

Total other payables
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Note 8: Provisions
2013

2012

$’000

$’000

Leave

(3,264)

(3,764)

Total employee provisions

(3,264)

(3,764)

Note 8A: Employee provisions

Employee provisions are expected to be settled in:
No more than 12 months

(2,167)

(2,106)

More than 12 months

(1,097)

(1,658)

(3,264)

(3,764)

Provision for restoration obligations

(864)

(830)

Total other provisions

(864)

(830)

Total employee provisions
Note 8B: Other provisions

Other provisions are expected to be settled in:
No more than 12 months

(126)

(446)

More than 12 months

(738)

(384)

(864)

(830)

(830)

(660)

Total other provisions
Provision for restoration
Carrying amount as at 1 July
Additional provisions made
Amounts used for restoration of premises
Amounts adjusted for revaluation

(479)

–

16

–

–

(170)

Amounts reversed for expired leases

443

–

Unwinding of discount or change in discount rate

(14)

–

(864)

(830)

Closing balance as at 30 June

Tourism Australia currently has 13 agreements for the leasing of premises which have provisions requiring Tourism Australia to restore the
premises to their original condition at the conclusion of the lease. Tourism Australia has made a provision to reflect the present value of
these obligations.
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Note 9: Cash Flow Reconciliation
2013
$’000

2012
$’000

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents as per
Balance Sheet to Cash Flow Statement
Cash and cash equivalents as per
Cash Flow Statement

21,716

26,854

Balance Sheet

21,716

26,854

–

–

(131,839)

(132,737)

129,656

132,821

3,923

4,290

Difference
Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash from operating activities
Net cost of services
Add revenue from Government
Adjustments for non-cash items
Depreciation/amortisation
Revaluation of restoration provision
Reversal of restoration provision
Bad debts write-off
Recognition of lease incentive liability

(39)

–

(458)

(120)

(3)

–

(5,176)

–

Application of lease incentives

385

–

Impairment losses

552

850

–

134

Write-down of non-financial asset

(20)

–

(1,144)

(1,170)

(1,748)

2,913

207

125

(500)

364

Increase/(decrease) in other provisions

34

170

Increase/(decrease) in supplier payables

17

383

4,412

(156)

(1,741)

7,867

Other gains
Net foreign exchange (gain)/losses
Changes in assets/liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in net receivables
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments
Increase/(decrease) in employee provisions

Increase/(decrease) in other payables
Net cash from operating activities

Note 10: Contingent Liabilities and Assets
Tourism Australia has no contingent assets or liabilities, quantifiable or unquantifiable.
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Note 11: Directors’ Remuneration
2013
No.

2012
No.

$30,000 to $59,999

5

5

$60,000 to $89,999

2

2

$90,000 to $119,999

1

1

The number of non-executive directors of Tourism Australia included in these figures
is shown below in the relevant remuneration bands:

Total number of non-executive directors

Total remuneration received or due and receivable by non-executive directors of
Tourism Australia

8

8

2013
$

2012
$

484,808

470,714

Remuneration of executive directors is included in Note 13: Senior Executive Remuneration.

Note 12: Related Party Disclosures
No director has entered into any transaction with Tourism Australia during the year ended 30 June 2013 (2012: $nil).

Note 13: Senior Executive Remuneration
2013
$

2012
$

5,901,017

6,204,552

374,562

480,164

6,275,579

6,684,716

457,807

638,765

457,807

638,765

76,498

123,810

76,498

123,810

839,902

173,604

6,809,884

7,620,895

Note 13A: Senior executive remuneration expense for the reporting period
Short-term employee benefits
Salary
Annual leave accrued
Total short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Superannuation
Total post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits
Long service leave
Total other long-term benefits
Termination benefits
Total employment benefits
Note 13A is prepared on an accrual basis.
Note 13A excludes acting arrangements and part-year service where total remuneration expensed for a senior executive was
less than $180,000.
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Note 13: Senior Executive Remuneration (continued)
Note 13B: Average annual reportable remuneration paid to substantive senior executives during the reporting period
Average annual reportable remuneration paid to substantive senior executives in 2013
2013
Substantive
Senior
executives
No.

Reportable
salary²
$

Contributed
superannuation³
$

Reportable
allowances4
$

Bonus
paid5
$

Total
$

$0 to $180,000

6

142,227

11,209

–

–

153,436

$180,000 to $209,999

1

188,392

18,482

–

–

206,874

$210,000 to $239,999

7

215,928

19,479

–

–

235,704

$240,000 to $269,999

4

232,092

21,020

–

–

253,112

$270,000 to $299,999

2

278,555

14,265

–

–

292,820

$300,000 to $329,999

4

284,478

22,597

–

–

307,075

$330,000 to $359,999

1

308,186

26,295

–

–

334,481

$360,000 to $389,000

1

362,126

–

–

–

362,126

$390,000 to $419,999

1

368,097

25,000

–

–

393,097

$420,000 to $449,999

1

410,759

18,106

–

–

428,864

$480,000 to $509,000

1

443,168

51,593

–

–

494,761

$830,000 to $859,000

1

856,098

–

–

–

856,098

Total number of substantive
senior executives

30

Average annual reportable
remuneration¹
Total remuneration (including
part-time arrangements)

In 2012–13 one senior executive officer and one highly paid officer in Japan received final payment of retirement allowances. These payments are
reflected in Notes 13B and 13C.
1. This table reports substantive senior executives who received remuneration during the reporting period. Each row is an averaged figure based on
headcount for individuals in the band.
2. ‘Reportable salary’ includes the following:
a) gross payments (less any bonuses paid, which are separated out and disclosed in the ‘bonus paid’ column);
b) reportable fringe benefits (at the net amount prior to ‘grossing up’ to account for tax benefits);
c) exempt foreign employment income; and
d) salary sacrificed benefits.
3. The ‘contributed superannuation’ amount is the average cost to the entity for the provision of superannuation benefits to substantive senior executives
in that reportable remuneration band during the reporting period.
4. ‘Reportable allowances’ are the average actual allowances paid as per the ‘total allowances’ line on individuals’ payment summaries.
5. ‘Bonus paid’ represents average actual bonuses paid during the reporting period in that reportable remuneration band. The ‘bonus paid’ within a
particular band may vary between financial years due to various factors such as individuals commencing with or leaving the entity during the financial
year.
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Note 13: Senior Executive Remuneration (continued)
Average annual reportable remuneration paid to substantive senior executives in 2012
2012

Average annual reportable
remuneration¹
Total remuneration (including
part-time arrangements)
$0 to $180,000
$180,000 to $209,999
$210,000 to $239,999
$240,000 to $269,999
$270,000 to $299,999
$300,000 to $329,999
$330,000 to $359,999
$390,000 to $419,999
$420,000 to $459,999
Total number of substantive
senior executives

Substantive
Senior
executives
No.

Reportable
salary²
$

Contributed
superannuation³
$

Reportable
allowances4
$

Bonus
paid5
$

Total
$

7
6
3
3
6
1
1
3
2

150,955
177,594
193,659
218,549
260,242
288,496
329,835
363,826
403,694

9,854
16,347
24,469
26,318
28,854
25,032
11,434
39,777
37,655

–
4,472
39,012
21,346
114
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

160,809
198,413
257,140
266,213
289,210
313,529
341,270
403,603
441,349

32

1. This table reports substantive senior executives who received remuneration during the reporting period. Each row is an averaged figure based
on headcount for individuals in the band.
2. ‘Reportable salary’ includes the following:
a) gross payments (less any bonuses paid, which are separated out and disclosed in the ‘bonus paid’ column);
b) reportable fringe benefits (at the net amount prior to ‘grossing up’ to account for tax benefits);
c) exempt foreign employment income; and
d) salary sacrificed benefits.
3. The ‘contributed superannuation’ amount is the average cost to the entity for the provision of superannuation benefits to substantive senior
executives in that reportable remuneration band during the reporting period.
4. ‘Reportable allowances’ are the average actual allowances paid as per the ‘total allowances’ line on individuals’ payment summaries.
5. ‘Bonus paid’ represents average actual bonuses paid during the reporting period in that reportable remuneration band. The ‘bonus paid’ within
a particular band may vary between financial years due to various factors such as individuals commencing with or leaving the entity during
the financial year.
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Note 13: Senior Executive Remuneration (continued)
Note 13C: Average annual reportable remuneration paid to other highly paid staff during the reporting period
Average annual reportable remuneration paid to other highly paid staff in 2013
2013
Staff
No.

Reportable
salary²
$

Contributed
superannuation³
$

Reportable
allowances4
$

Bonus
paid5
$

Total
$

$180,000 to $209,999

2

171,491

15,434

–

–

186,925

$210,000 to $239,999

1

223,624

–

–

–

223,624

$240,000 to $269,999

1

234,189

23,103

–

–

257,292

$270,000 to $299,999

1

281,470

–

–

–

281,470

$830,000 to $859,999

1

839,866

–

–

–

839,866

Staff
No.

Reportable
salary²
$

Contributed
superannuation³
$

Reportable
allowances4
$

Bonus
paid5
$

Total
$

1

165,879

14,929

–

–

180,808

1

201,220

19,657

–

–

220,877

Average annual reportable
remuneration¹
Total remuneration (including
part-time arrangements)

Total

6

2012
Average annual reportable
remuneration¹
Total remuneration (including
part-time arrangements)
$180,000 to $209,999
$210,000 to $239,999
Total

2

In 2012–13, one senior executive officer and one highly paid officer in Japan received final payment of retirement allowances. These payments
are reflected in Notes 13B and 13C.
1. This table reports staff:
a) who were employed by the entity during the reporting period;
b) whose reportable remuneration was $180,000 or more for the financial period; and
c) who were not required to be disclosed in Tables A, B or director disclosures.
Each row is an averaged figure based on headcount for individuals in the band.
2. ‘Reportable salary’ includes the following:
a) gross payments (less any bonuses paid, which are separated out and disclosed in the ‘bonus paid’ column);
b) reportable fringe benefits (at the net amount prior to ‘grossing up’ for tax purposes);
c) exempt foreign employment income; and
d) salary sacrificed benefits.
3. The ‘contributed superannuation’ amount is the average cost to the entity for the provision of superannuation benefits to other highly paid
staff in that reportable remuneration band during the reporting period.
4. ‘Reportable allowances’ are the average actual allowances paid as per the ‘total allowances’ line on individuals’ payment summaries.
5. ‘Bonus paid’ represents average actual bonuses paid during the reporting period in that reportable remuneration band. The ‘bonus paid’
within a particular band may vary between financial years due to various factors such as individuals commencing with or leaving the entity
during the financial year.
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Note 14: Remuneration of Auditors
Fair value of the services provided for auditing the financial statements for the
reporting period

2013

2012

$’000

$’000

(113)

(113)

(113)

(113)

No other services were provided by the Auditor-General during the reporting period.

Note 15: Financial Instruments
Notes

2013

2012

$’000

$’000

21,716

26,854

Note 15A: Categories of financial instruments
Financial assets
Loans and receivables:
Cash at bank and cash equivalents

5,133

2,821

Total

26,849

29,675

Carrying amount of financial assets

26,849

29,675

(12,883)

(8,454)

(12,883)

(8,454)

Trade and other receivables

Financial liabilities
At amortised cost
Trade creditors and other payables
Carrying amount of financial liabilities
Note 15B: Net income and expense from financial assets
Held-to-maturity assets:
2,272

2,962

Net gain from held-to-maturity assets

2,272

2,962

Net gain from financial assets

2,272

2,962

Interest revenue

4B

The total interest income from financial assets not at fair value through profit and loss in the year ended 30 June 2013
was $2,272,000 (2012: $2,962,000).
Note 15C: Net income and expense from financial liabilities
Financial liabilities – at amortised cost
Exchange gains

4F

1,144

1,170

Net gain financial liabilities – at amortised cost

1,144

1,170

Net gain from financial liabilities

1,144

1,170
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Note 15: Financial Instruments (continued)

Note 15D: Fair values of financial instruments

Notes

Carrying
amount
2013
$’000

Fair value
2013
$’000

Carrying
amount
2012
$’000

Fair value
2012
$’000

Financial assets
Cash at bank

5A

13,394

13,394

4,180

4,180

Deposits at call

5A

8,322

8,322

22,674

22,674

Receivables for goods and services

5B

5,133

5,133

2,821

2,821

26,849

26,849

29,675

29,675

Total financial assets
Financial liabilities (recognised)
Trade creditors

7A

(6,250)

(6,250)

(6,233)

(6,233)

Other payables

7B

(6,633)

(6,633)

(2,221)

(2,221)

(12,883)

(12,883)

(8,454)

(8,454)

Total financial liabilities

Note 15E: Credit risk exposures
Tourism Australia is exposed to minimal credit risk, as the majority of loans and receivables are cash at bank and on
deposit and trade receivables for goods and services. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the risk that arises from
potential default of a debtor. This amount is equal to the total amount of trade receivables (2013: $5,586,000 and
2012: $3,834,000). Tourism Australia has assessed the risk of the default on payment and has allocated $26,000 in
2013 (2012: $29,000) to an impairment allowance account. Tourism Australia managed its credit risk by undertaking
background and credit checks prior to allowing a debtor relationship.
Tourism Australia has established policies and procedures in regards to collection of debts.
Tourism Australia holds no collateral to mitigate against credit risk.

Credit quality of financial instruments not past due or individually determined as impaired
Past due or
impaired
2013
$’000

21,716

Not past due
nor impaired
2012
$’000
26,854

–

Past due or
impaired
2012
$’000
–

4,933

2,558

226

284

26,649

29,412

226

284

Not past due
nor impaired
2013
$’000
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables for goods and services
Total
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Note 15: Financial Instruments (continued)
Ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired for 2013
0 to 30 days
$’000

31 to 60 days
$’000

61 to 90 days
$’000

90+ days
$’000

Total
$’000

Receivables for goods
and services

187

–

22

17

226

Total

187

–

22

17

226

Ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired for 2012

Receivables for goods
and services

0 to 30 days
$’000
259

31 to 60 days
$’000
25

61 to 90 days
$’000
–

90+ days
$’000
–

Total
$’000
284

259

25

–

–

284

Total

Note 15F: Liquidity risk
Tourism Australia’s financial liabilities are supplier payables. The exposure to liquidity risk is based on the notion that
Tourism Australia will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with financial liabilities. This is highly
unlikely, due to Government funding and internal policies and procedures put in place to ensure there are appropriate
resources to meet its financial obligations.
Maturities for non-derivative financial liabilities 2013
1 to 5 years
2013
$’000

>5 years
2013
$’000

Total
2013
$’000

6,250

–

–

6,250

1,831

4,802

–

6,633

–

8,081

4,802

–

12,883

Within 1 year
2012
$’000

1 to 5 years
2012
$’000

>5 years
2012
$’000

Total
2012
$’000

Trade creditors

On demand
2012
$’000
–

6,233

–

–

6,233

Other payables

–

2,159

62

–

2,221

Total

–

8,392

62

–

8,454

On demand
2013
$’000

Within 1 year
2013
$’000

Trade creditors

–

Other payables

–

Total

Tourism Australia receives funding from the Australian Government. Tourism Australia manages its budgeted funds to ensure it has adequate
funds to meet payments as they fall due. In addition, Tourism Australia has policies in place to ensure timely payments are made when due
and has no past experience of default.
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Note 15: Financial Instruments (continued)
Note 15G: Market risk
Tourism Australia holds basic financial instruments that do not expose Tourism Australia to major market risks.
Tourism Australia accounts for its financial instruments (cash and cash equivalents) in accordance with AASB
139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and reports these instruments under AASB 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures.
Foreign exchange
Tourism Australia maintains foreign bank accounts that facilitate local transactions and at balance date reported an
Australian dollar equivalent cash balance of $1.8 million (2012: $3 million). Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currency are converted to Australian dollar equivalents at the exchange rate prevailing on balance date. Realised and
unrealised gains and losses on foreign currency are taken to profit and loss.
Tourism Australia expends a significant amount of revenue from the Government in foreign currencies and uses
budget parameter rates to measure its performance against budgets. In 2013, the movement of the Australian dollar
against foreign currencies resulted in an estimated loss of $2.7 million (2012: gain of $1.7 million). This movement also
contributed to a decrease in overall cash balance.
The principal exchange rates affecting the foreign exchange loss are the Chinese yuan, the US dollar, Great British
pound, the Euro and the Japanese yen.
Interest rate
Tourism Australia maintains operating and investment bank accounts to manage cash. The operating bank accounts
are non-interest bearing and investment accounts are designated in liquid and short-term interest-bearing deposits.
All cash deposits are held in operating accounts at balance date. (2013: $21.7 million; 2012: $25.8 million)
The average interest rates during the year for the interest-bearing accounts were between 3.5 and 5 per cent.

Note 16: Restructuring
There was no restructuring in 2012–13.
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Note 17: Reporting of Outcomes
The entity used an activity-based approach to determine the attribution of its shared items.
The basis of attribution in the table below is consistent with the basis used for the budget.
Outcome 1

Note 17A: Net cost of outcome delivery

2013

2012

$’000

$’000

(162,688)

(154,379)

(162,688)

(154,379)

Expenses
Departmental
Total expenses
Other external revenues
Advertising

6,120

4,019

Industry contribution

9,221

10,249

Interest

2,272

2,962

Gains

1,164

1,170

12,072

3,242

Total other external revenues

30,849

21,642

Net cost of outcome delivery

(131,839)

(132,737)

Other revenues

Refer to Note 1.1 for a description of Outcome 1.
Net costs shown include intra-government costs that are eliminated in calculating the actual budget outcome.
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(5,228)
–
(183)
–
(6,538)

(7,320)

–

(222)

–

(9,166)

Suppliers and other expenses

Write-down and imparment
of assets

138
5,925

682

8,140

–

–
12,727

657

–

124

4,894

–

7,052

(8,817)

–

(213)

–

(7,042)

(1,562)

$’000

2013

19,390

339

–

310

4,844

–

13,897

(16,050)

–

(449)

–

(12,834)

(2,767)

$’000

2012

Output Group 2

138,474

10,733

–

2,020

4,327

6,120

115,274

(144,139)

–

(3,488)

–

(115,116)

(25,535)

$’000

2013

127,978

2,765

–

2,526

5,405

4,019

113,263

(130,807)

–

(3,658)

–

(104,598)

(22,551)

$’000

2012

Output Group 3

1,164

–

1,164

–

–

–

–

(566)

(14)

–

(552)

–

–

$’000

1,170

–

1,170

–

–

–

–

(984)

–

–

(984)

–

–

$’000

2012

Non-specific
2013

160,505

12,072

1,164

2,272

9,221

6,120

129,656

(162,688)

(14)

(3,923)

(552)

(129,478)

(28,721)

$’000

2012

(26,445)

$’000

154,463

3,242

1,170

2,962

10,249

4,019

132,821

(154,379)

with the Annual Operational Plan for 2012–13. Outcome 1 is described in Note 1.1.

–

(4,290)

(984)

(122,660)

Total
2013

The attribution of expenses and revenue is based on percentage of direct investment in the respective outputs. The investment reflects Tourism Australia’s objectives, which are consistent

Total

Other non-taxation revenues

Gains

–
126

Industry contribution

Interest

–

–

–

128

5,661

7,330

Revenue from Government

Advertising

Income

Total

Finance costs

Depreciation and amortisation

(1,127)

(1,624)

$’000

$’000

Employees

Expenses

2012

2013

Output Group 1

Note 17B: Major classes of departmental expense, income, assets and liabilities by outcome

Notes

Note 17: Reporting of Outcomes (continued)

Australian War Memorial, Canberra, ACT
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LIST OF REQUIREMENTS
Part of Report/
page number

Requirement

Letter of transmittal

p1

Mandatory

Table of contents

p1

Mandatory

pp114–117

Mandatory

Glossary

p113

Mandatory

Contact officer(s)

p120

Mandatory

Internet home page address and Internet address for report

p120

Mandatory

Review by Chairman

pp10–11

Mandatory

Review by Managing Director

pp12–13

Mandatory

Summary of significant issues and developments

pp4–22

Suggested

Overview of department’s performance and financial results

pp52–70

Suggested

Outlook for following year

pp10–13

Suggested

NA

Portfolio departments –
suggested

pp2–3

Mandatory

p64

Mandatory

pp52–62

Mandatory

Where outcome and program structures differ from PB Statements/PAES or
other portfolio statements accompanying any other additional appropriation
bills (other portfolio statements), details of variation and reasons for change

NA

Mandatory

Portfolio structure

NA

Portfolio departments –
mandatory

Review of performance during the year in relation to programs and
contribution to outcomes

pp52–62

Mandatory

Actual performance in relation to deliverables and KPIs set out in
PB Statements/PAES or other portfolio statements

pp52–62

Mandatory

NA

Mandatory

Description

Index

Reviews by Chairman and Managing Director

Significant issues and developments – portfolio
Agency overview
Role and functions
Organisational structure
Outcome and program structure

Report on performance

Where performance targets differ from the PBS/PAES, details of both former
and new targets, and reasons for the change
Narrative discussion and analysis of performance

pp4–51

Mandatory

Trend information

pp4–51

Mandatory

Significant changes in nature of principal functions/services

NA

Suggested

Performance of purchaser/provider arrangements

NA

If applicable, suggested

pp2–51

Suggested

Factors, events or trends influencing departmental performance
Contribution of risk management in achieving objectives

pp66–68

Suggested

Social inclusion outcomes

NA

If applicable, mandatory

Performance against service charter customer service standards, complaints
data, and the department’s response to complaints

NA

If applicable, mandatory

pp71–108

Mandatory

NA

Mandatory

pp107–108

Mandatory

pp66

Mandatory

pp66–68

Mandatory

Discussion and analysis of the department’s financial performance

Discussion of any significant changes from the prior year, from budget or
anticipated to have a significant impact on future operations
Agency resource statement and summary resource tables by outcomes
Management accountability
Agency heads are required to certify that their agency complies with the
Commonwealth Fraud Control Guidelines
Statement of the main corporate governance practices in place
Names of the senior executive and their responsibilities

p64

Suggested

Senior management committees and their roles

pp66–68

Suggested

Corporate and operational planning and associated performance
reporting and review

pp66–68

Suggested

Approach adopted to identifying areas of significant financial or operational risk

pp66–68

Suggested

110 List of Requirements

Part of Report/
page number

Requirement

Policy and practices on the establishment and maintenance of
appropriate ethical standards

pp50–51

Suggested

How nature and amount of remuneration for SES officers is determined

pp90–102

Suggested

Significant developments in external scrutiny

pp66–68

Mandatory

NA

Mandatory

pp72–73

Mandatory

pp50–51, 65–66

Mandatory

pp65–66

Suggested

NA

Suggested

Training and development undertaken and its impact

pp65–66

Suggested

Work health and safety performance

pp65–66

Suggested

Description

Judicial decisions and decisions of administrative tribunals
Reports by the Auditor-General, a Parliamentary Committee or the
Commonwealth Ombudsman
Management of human resources
Assessment of effectiveness in managing and developing human resources to
achieve departmental objectives
Workforce planning, staff turnover and retention
Impact and features of enterprise or collective agreements, individual
flexibility arrangements (IFAs), determinations, common law contracts
and AWAs

Productivity gains

NA

Suggested

Statistics on staffing

p65

Mandatory

pp65–66

Mandatory

NA

Mandatory

NA

Mandatory, if applicable

p67

Mandatory

p67

Mandatory

p67

Mandatory

NA

Mandatory

pp71–108

Mandatory

Work health and safety (Schedule 2, Part 4 of the Work Health and Safety Act 2011)

p65

Mandatory

Advertising and Market Research (Section 311A of the Commonwealth Electoral
Act 1918) and statement on advertising campaigns

NA

Mandatory

Ecologically sustainable development and environmental performance (Section
516A of the Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999)

p66

Mandatory

Compliance with the agency’s obligations under the Carer Recognition Act 2010

NA

If applicable, mandatory

Grant programs

NA

Mandatory

pp65–66

Mandatory

Information Publication Scheme statement

p68

Mandatory

Correction of material errors in previous annual report

NA

Mandatory

p110–111

Mandatory

NA

Mandatory

Enterprise or collective agreements, IFAs, determinations, common law
contracts and AWAs
Performance pay

Assets management
Assessment of effectiveness of assets management

Purchasing
Assessment of purchasing against core policies and principles

Consultants
Summary statement detailing the number of new consultancy services
contracts let during the year; the total actual expenditure on all new
consultancy contracts let during the year (inclusive of GST); the number of
ongoing consultancy contracts that were active in the reporting year; and the
total actual expenditure in the reporting year on the ongoing consultancy
contracts (inclusive of GST).

Australian National Audit Office access clauses
Absence of provisions in contracts allowing access by the Auditor-General

Exempt contracts
Contracts exempt from AusTender

Financial statements
Financial statements

Other mandatory information

Disability reporting – explicit and transparent reference to agency-level
information available through other reporting mechanisms

List of requirements
Spatial reporting – expenditure by program between regional and
non-regional Australia
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Australia’s Coastal Wilderness, VIC

GLOSSARY
AASB

Australian Accounting Standards Board

ADS

Approved Destination Status

AGEST

Australian Government Employee Superannuation Trust

ASP

Aussie Specialist Program

ATDC

Australian Tourism Directions Conference

ATDW

Australian Tourism Data Warehouse

ATE

Australian Tourism Exchange

ATEC

Australian Tourism Export Council

BEA

Business Events Australia

CIBTM

China Incentive, Business Travel and Meetings Exhibition

CSS

Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme

DVS

Destination Visitor Survey

FMOs

Finance Minister’s Orders

GCC

Gulf Cooperative Countries

GCTM

Greater China Travel Mission

GGCA

Great Golf Courses of Australia

HICAP

Hotel Investment Conference Asia Pacific

IAPG

Investment Attraction Partnership Group

IDC

Inter-departmental Committee

IMHP

International Media Hosting Program

ITM

India Travel Mission

KPI

Key Performance Indicator

MoU

Memorandum of Understanding

NABERS

National Australian Built Environment Rating System

NLRC

National Landscapes Reference Committee

NLTTS

National Long-Term Tourism Strategy

PAICE

Pacific Asia Incentives and Conference Expo

PATA

Pacific Asia Travel Association

PSS

Public Sector Superannuation Scheme

PSSa

PSS accumulation plan

RET

Department of Resources, Energy and Tourism

T-QUAL

National Tourism Accreditation Framework

TRA

Tourism Research Australia

UNWTO

United Nations World Tourism Organization
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Conference, 58
advertorials, 58
AIMIA Awards, 33
Air Services Agreement, 57
airlines
access rights, 57, 60
awards, 70
capacity, 22, 57, 60
international, 36
market share, 57
Memoranda of Understanding, 36,
54, 57
partnerships, 13, 17, 22, 36, 38, 53, 54
routes, 38
ALAN, 22
Amway India Leadership Seminar, 31, 54
Annual Operational Plan, 67
Argyropoulos, Ellenor, 51
Arkaba Walk (SA), 41
Asia Marketing Fund, 17, 20–22
Asia-Pacific Incentives and Meetings
Expo, 60, 62
Asian visitors
see also China; India
airline partnerships, 36
arrivals, 6
Asia Marketing Fund, 20–22
business visitors, 31
feature film, 54
increase in, 10, 16
increasing demand from, 54
research on, 22
spending, 7
visitor demand, 17
assets
contingent, 98
financial, 90–91
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Associations Congress, 62
ATE see Australian Tourism Exchange
ATEC Meeting Place, 60, 62
ATEC Symposium, 62
ATS, 22
Audit and Finance Committee, 68
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remuneration, 103
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australia.com website, 54, 55, 56
Australian Public Service Commission, 65

114 Index

Australian Regional Tourism Network
Conference, 60
Australian Tourism Awards, 58
Australian Tourism Data Warehouse, 17
Australian Tourism Directions
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marketing, 39
B
Backpacker Advisory Panel, 61
Balance Sheet, 76
Bay of Fires Lodge Walk (TAS), 41
beaches, 27, 54
Behaviours Program, 65
Best Jobs in the World global youth
campaign, 13, 35, 51, 55, 61
‘Best of Australia’ program, 13, 54, 61
Best of Travel Group, 54
Board of Directors, 67–68
Audit and Finance Committee, 68
remuneration, 99
statement, 74
Brazil, 53
Bronte to Bondi Photo Walk, 33
BS Asahi, 22, 53
bundled products, 54
business events, 31, 62, 70
Business Events Australia, 31, 53, 56
Business Events e-newsletter, 60
Business Events North Asia Roadshow, 62
Business Events South East Asia
Roadshow, 62
C
calendar launched, 54
campaigns
see also marketing
activity evaluation, 27
Best Jobs in the World, 13, 35, 51, 55, 61
‘Best of Australia’, 13, 54, 61
development, 56
media see media
There’s nothing like Australia see
There’s nothing like Australia campaign
capacity improvement, 17
Caravan, Recreational Vehicle and
Accommodation Conference, 58
cash flow
reconciliation, 98
statement, 78

Chairman
letter of submission, 1
report, 10–11
China
arrivals, 6, 7
business visitors, 31
Greater China Travel Mission, 57
growth, 16
increasing demand from, 53
secondary cities, 17, 20, 22
visitor demand, 17
visitor growth, 10
website, 12, 17, 18, 57
wine and lifestyle visitors, 37
China 2020 Geographic Strategy, 17, 57
China 2020 China 2020 Geographic
Strategy, 18, 57
China Eastern Airlines, 38, 53, 54
China Incentive, Business Travel and
Meetings Exhibition, 62
China Southern Airlines, 38
Chinese Visitor Satisfaction Study, 22
CIBTM, 62
city experiences, 54
Clayton Utz, 65
coastal experiences, 54
Code of Conduct, 67
collaboration see partnerships
commitments schedule, 79
Commonwealth Authorities and
Companies Act 1997 (CAC Act), 66, 67,
68, 82, 83
communications, 29, 58, 59, 61
competitions, 54
conferences
Australian Tourism Directions, 46, 59
business events, 31
investment, 56
presentations at, 60
sponsorships, 58
tourism investment, 38
conservation, 49
Consumer Demand Project, 54
consumers see customers
contact officers, back cover
contingent liabilities and assets, 98
corporate governance, 66–68
corporate incentive visitors, 31
Corporate Plan, 67
Corroboree Europe, 44, 62
Cradle Mountain Huts Walk (Tas.), 41
Cruise Down Under, 61
cruise sector, 61
CRVA National Conference, 58
customers
campaigns for see campaigns
corporate, 31
domestic see domestic tourism
expenditure see tourist spend
focus on, 25, 26–37
identifying and targeting, 53–56
international see international visitors

Lions fans, 37, 54
motivation, 26
research on see research
spending see tourist spend
targeting, 26
D
database, 57
delegate boosting, 31
Delta Airlines, 53
demand, increasing, 52, 53–56
Department of Education, Employment
and Workplace Relations, 65
Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade,
46
Department of Immigration and
Citizenship, 17, 46
Department of Infrastructure and
Transport, 46
Department of Resources, Energy and
Tourism, 17, 38, 42, 46
Destination Australia Marketing Alliance,
60
Destination NSW, 22, 44, 46
development focus, 25, 38–44
Digital Distribution Working Group, 17, 58
Digital influencer project, 55
digital marketing, 17, 55
digital media, 32–33
Directors see Board of Directors
Disability Discrimination Act 1992, 65
Distribution 2020: Situational Analysis, 44
distribution system, 44, 52, 53, 61–62
Dixon, Geoff, 10–11
dollar value, 16
Domestic Consumer Demand Survey, 27
domestic tourism
beaches, 26, 54
news coverage, 37
social media, 33
spending, 7, 10–11, 16
statistics, 16
Downunder Travel Bulletin, 59
E
e-newsletters, 60
ecologically sustainable development, 66
Ecotourism Australia Conference, 58
educational visits for business, 31
Emerging Leaders Program, 65
Emirates, 36, 38, 53, 54
Employee Assistance Program, 66
employees see staff
employment policies, procedures and
practices, 65
enabling legislation, 66
energy use, 66
Engagement and Culture survey indexes,
65
environmental performance, 66
environmental tourism, 49
equity, 77

Essentials e-newsletter, 60
ethical standards, 50–51
Europe, 10
European Incentive, Business Travel and
Meetings Exhibition (EIBTM), 31, 62
European New Product Workshop, 62
events after the reporting period, 87
executive management review, 67
Expedia, 53
expenditure, tourists’ see tourist spend
expenses, 88–89
external scrutiny, 66–68
F
Facebook, 12, 32–33, 54
Australian Working Holiday, 55
fan base, 12
Indigenous Tourism Champions, 58
new fans, 22, 54
Fairfax Media, 37, 54
52 Extraordinary Australian Trips, 37
film, 54
financial assets, 90–91
financial instruments, 103–106
financial performance, 71–108
France, 43
fraud control, 66
freedom of information, 68
frequent flyers program, 53
Freycinet Experience Walk (Tas.), 41
Friends of Australia, 55
FTI Touristik, 54
G
G’day USA campaign, 56
Germany, 53, 54
Global Leadership Team, 65
‘global target customer’ profile, 59
glossary, 114
Gold Coast Adventure Group forum, 60
Gold Coast Magic Millions, 54
Google+, 12, 32, 55
government focus, 25, 46
Great Golf Courses of Australia, 13, 40, 54
Great Ocean Walk (Vic.), 41
Great Southern Land, 55
Great Walks of Australia, 13, 40, 41, 54
Greater China Travel Mission, 57, 62
‘Grow Demand from Asia’ strategy, 19
growth potential, 27
guidebooks, 59
H
health and safety, 65–66
health assessments, staff, 66
Herbalife China Leadership Vacation, 31
High Country Harvest Festival, 54
highlights, 8–9, 53–62
HIS, 22
Hong Kong, 31

Hotel Investment Conference Asia
Pacific, 56
human resources see staff
I
IMEX, 31, 62
income, 75, 89–90
India
Amway India Leadership Seminar, 54
business visitors, 31
increasing demand from, 53, 54
visitor demand, 17
visitor growth, 10, 16
India 2020 Strategic Plan, 19, 57
India Mega Famil and Workshop 2012, 62
Indigenous Aussie Specialist Program, 43
Indigenous Australian Government
Development Program, 65
Indigenous Australians
staff, 65
tourism, 17, 43, 58–59
Indigenous Business Australia (IBA), 43, 58
Indigenous Tourism Champions Program,
17, 43, 58–59
Indigenous Tourism Group, 17, 58
Indonesia, 10
industrial disputes, 66
industry development, 52, 56–60
influenza vaccinations for staff, 66
information, access to, 68
Information Publication Scheme, 68
infrastructure improvement, 17
‘Insight files’, 59
Instagram, 12, 32, 54
insurance, 67
International and European Association
Congress, 62
international awards, 70
International Luxury Travel Market, 61, 62
International Media Hosting Program,
31, 53
International Media Relations, 56
International Visitor Survey, 7, 22
international visitors
Asian see Asian visitors
best experiences, 40–41
business visitors, 31
increase in, 10, 16, 17
Lions fans, 37, 54
performance, 6
product distribution, 44
social media, 33
spending see tourist spend
survey, 7, 22, 26
UK see UK
US see USA
wealthy, 53, 61
wine experiences, 37
youth market, 35
Internationale Tourismus Börse, 62
Internet home page and address,
120

2012–2013 ANNUAL REPORT 115

INDEX CONTINUED...
Investment and Regulatory Reform
Working Group, 58
Investment Guide, 17
Investment Monitor, 17
investment opportunities, 10, 17, 38, 56, 60
investor meetings, 56
J
JAL Airways, 21
JALPAK, 22
Japan
growth, 10
increasing demand from, 53
rebuilding, 17
television series, 22
Japan Travel Bureau, 22
Joint Consultative Committee, 65
Jones Lang La Salle, 57
K
key performance indicators
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market see customers
Market Advisory Panel, 60
Market Profile publications, 59
marketing
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indicators see key performance
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Directors, 99
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research
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consumer demand, 26, 59
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risk management, 66–68
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S
safety, 65–66
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Sex Discrimination Act 1984, 65
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Singapore, 10, 16
Singapore Airlines, 36, 53
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social media, 32–33
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Best Jobs in the World, 51, 61
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goal, 12
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Social Media Program, 32
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South East Asia Mission, 62
South East Asia Showcase, 31
South Korea, 31, 53
spending, tourist see tourist spend
staff, 64–66
culture and engagement, 49
Indigenous, 65
policies, procedures and practices, 65
statistics, 65
survey, 50
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wellbeing, 66
workplace health and safety, 65–66
Stakeholder Engagement Framework, 60
Stakeholder Relationship Management
System, 60
stakeholder satisfaction, 44, 62
state and territory tourism organisations,
14, 17, 20, 22, 26, 35, 37, 38, 43, 46, 54,
60, 61
State Tourism and Protected Areas
Agencies, 59
statement of changes in equity, 77
statement of comprehensive income, 75
statistics, 7
Storyteller groups, 59
strategy see Tourism 2020 strategy
Sydney Royal Easter Show, 54
T
T-QUAL Accreditation program, 17, 42, 58
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television promotions, 22, 53, 55
There’s nothing like Australia campaign, 29
airlines, 21, 36
challenge, 12
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launched, 55
partnerships, 20
video, 55

Virgin Australia partnership, 53
website, 56
There’s nothing like Australia for business
events campaign, 31
Three Peas in a Pod (film), 54
Tourism 2020 strategy, 14–22
aims, 15
Asia Marketing Fund, 20–22
China, 18
customer focus, 25, 26–37
development focus, 38–44
government focus, 46
India, 18
results, 10, 16
strategic areas of focus, 17
Tourism 2020 Strategy Groups, 57, 58
Tourism Access Working Group, 17, 57, 58
Tourism and Events Queensland, 22, 46, 53
Tourism Australia Act 2004 (TA Act), 66
Tourism Australia Enterprise Agreement
2013–2016, 65
Tourism Northern Territory, 22, 56
Tourism Quality Council of Australia, 58
Tourism Research Advisory Board, 17, 58
Tourism Research Australia, 17, 22
Tourism Tropical North Queensland, 44
Tourism Victoria, 46, 53
Tourism Western Australia, 56
tourism.australia.com, 56
tourisminvestment.com.au, 38
tourist spend
global, 4–5
importance of, 6
international vs. domestic, 7
overnight, 3, 16, 56
statistics, 56
tourists see customers
trade events, 44, 62
training
staff, 65
travel agents, 44, 59, 61
transport improvement, 17
travel agents, training, 44, 59, 61
travel distribution system, 44, 52, 53,
61–62
TripAdvisor microsite, 58
TTG Incontri, 62
2020 Distribution Strategy, 17, 61
Twitter, 32, 54

business visitors, 31
There’s nothing like Australia campaign, 53
visitor growth, 10, 16
V
values, 67
video clip, 55
Virgin Australia, 36, 53
visa issues, 17
visitors see customers
visual assets, 55
Voyages (hotel group), 22
W
walking tours, 40–41, 55
wealthy tourists, 53, 61
websites
agents’, 53
Chinese, 12, 17, 18, 57
continuing development and
improvement, 56
images and videos, 55
South Korea, 53
‘What’s On’ calendar, 54
Wildiaries Nature Series Filming Project, 59
wildlife, 59
Wine Australia partnership, 37
wine tourism, 40, 54
women employees, 65
workers compensation, 66
Working Holiday Maker program, 35
‘Working with Tourism Australia –
Global Marketing Prospectus’, 61
workplace health and safety, 65–66
Workplace Health and Safety
Committee, 65
World Route Development Forum, 57
World Travel Market, 62
World Youth and Student Travel
Conference, 61
Y
youth campaign, 13, 35, 51, 55, 61
youth market, 61
Youth Tourism Advisory Panel, 61
YouTube, 33, 37, 54
Z
Die Zeit, 54

U
UK
business visitors, 31
campaign, 53
Lions fans, 37
visitor growth, 10
Ultimate Winery Experiences of
Australia, 13, 40, 54
United Nations World Tourism
Organisation, 19
USA
Australia Tourism Summit, 46
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Contacting
Tourism
Australia

AUSTRALIA
Level 29, 420 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Telephone: +61 2 9360 1111
Facsimile: +61 2 9331 6469
Email: ask.us@tourism.australia.com
CHINA
Room 5205, Level 52
No. 1717 West Nanjing Road
Wheelock Square Jing An District
Shanghai 200000
Telephone: +86 21 6010 3988
Facsimile: +86 21 6010 3989
Email: ask.us@tourism.australia.com
GERMANY
Neue Mainzer Strasse 22
D 60311 Frankfurt/Main
Telephone: +49 69 274 00622
Facsimile: +49 69 2740 0640
Email: ask.us@tourism.australia.com
HONG KONG
Suite 2203, 22nd Floor Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road
Wanchai
Telephone: +852 2531 3800
Facsimile: +852 2802 8211
Email: ask.us@tourism.australia.com
INDIA
Office 52, 5th Floor
Nariman Bhavan
Nariman Point
Mumbai 400021
Telephone: +91 22 6628 0200
Facsimile: +91 22 6743 9765
Email: ask.us@tourism.australia.com

JAPAN
12F Marunouchi Trust
Tower North
1-8-1 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku
Tokyo 100-0005
Telephone: +81 3 5218 2560
Facsimile: +81 3 5218 2577
Email: ask.us@tourism.australia.com

SINGAPORE
101 Thomson Road
United Square #08-03
Singapore 307591
Telephone: +65 6255 4555
Facsimile: +65 6253 8431
Email: ask.us@tourism.australia.com

SOUTH KOREA
20th Floor, Youngpoong Building
41 Cheonggyecheon-ro
Jongno-gu, Seoul 110-752
Telephone: +82 2 399 6500
Facsimile: +82 2 399 6507
Email: ask.us@tourism.australia.com

UK
Australia Centre
Australia House
6th Floor, Melbourne Place/Strand
London WC2B 4LG
Telephone: +44 20 7438 4601
Facsimile: +44 20 7240 6690
Email: ask.us@tourism.australia.com

MALAYSIA
Suite 12-1, Faber Imperial Court
Jalan Sultan Ismail 50250
Kuala Lumpur
Telephone: +60 3 2611 1148
Facsimile: +60 3 2070 4302
Email: ask.us@tourism.australia.com

USA
6100 Center Drive
Suite 1150
Los Angeles California 90045
Telephone: +1 310 695 3200
Facsimile: +1 310 695 3201
Email: ask.us@tourism.australia.com

NEW ZEALAND
Level 3, 125 The Strand
Parnell 1001
Auckland
Telephone: +64 9 915 2826
Facsimile: +64 9 915 2881
Email: ask.us@tourism.australia.com
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Contact Officer
For more information about this report please contact:
General Manager Corporate Affairs and Strategy
Tourism Australia
GPO Box 2721
Sydney NSW 1006
Australia
Telephone +61 2 9360 1111
This report can be accessed online at
www.tourism.australia.com.
Additional Information Sources
2012–13 Portfolio Budget Statements
Tourism Australia Annual Operational Plan 2012–13
Tourism Australia Corporate Plan 2013–16
Freedom of Information
Tourism Australia is a prescribed authority under the
Freedom of Information Act 1982. Tourism Australia’s
contact officer for freedom of information requests is
Mark Craig, General Manager, Corporate Services.
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under the Copyright Act 1968, no part may be reproduced
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Requests and enquiries concerning reproduction and rights
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Administration, Attorney General’s Department,
Robert Garran offices, National Circuit, Barton ACT 2600 or
posted at www.ag.gov.au/cca.
Designed by Tourism Australia Design Studio.

Brisbane QLD
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National Park TAS
@laurenepbath

Eureka Skydeck,
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@eureka_skydeck

Broadbeach,
Gold Coast QLD
@mcguigan_visuals

VIVID Festival, Sydney
NSW
@nancyonathan

Great Barrier Reef QLD
@britbog

WA
@pwebz

Horizontal Falls WA
@frangina

Greenmount Beach
QLD
@kaikirrali

Bondi Beach NSW
@ms_parke

Cottesloe Beach WA
@jayeskimo

Uluru NT
@yodhanrp

Kakadu NT
@pehrmarcus

Royal National Park
NSW
@relzie

Perth WA
@prettyyoungthing

Hamilton Island
QLD
@haydentin

Sydney NSW
@elliehearn

Eureka Skydeck,
Melbourne VIC
@mydamni

Sydney NSW
@markseabury

Mungo National Park
NSW
@ozyroadtripper

Southern Ocean
Lodge SA
@swannysa

Great Ocean Road
VIC
@leandromaia88

Dove Lake TAS
@piotrhaczek

Hosier Lane,
Melbourne VIC
@rayofmelbourne

Gold Coast QLD
@sweetocean_

Pink Lake WA
@jillhomez

Brighton Beach VIC
@martinarastelli

Kata Tjuta NT
@megandjan1

Kangaroo Island SA
@gregorsnell

Zebedee Thermal
Springs WA
@ozyroadtripper

Cable Beach WA
@quietachiever

Lord Howe Island
NSW
@naupaka14

Great Ocean Road VIC
@ir3n3n6

Canberra ACT
@seymot

Great Barrier Reef QLD
@heartreefaustralia

Mt Ainslie Lookout ACT
@wanderingsammy

Monkey Mia WA
@vickyarmer

Hawkesbury River NSW
@sorayajoy

Sydney Opera House
NSW
@festivalsider

12 Apostles VIC
@hatu_t

Darling Harbour, Sydney
NSW
@sydney_festival

Katherine Gorge NT
@insta_graham23

Aurora Australis TAS
@mattglastonbury

Kangaroo Island SA
@_adventuretours

Rainbow Bay Beach
QLD
@jewelszee_

Brisbane QLD
@emmamcc

Kings Canyon NT
@laurenepbath

Coral Bay WA
@carlyyyyd

Flinders Ranges SA
@swannysa

Uluru NT
Mark Craig

Surfers Paradise QLD
@laurenepbath

Bungle Bungles WA
@jcantelo

Port Douglas QLD
@nickwillox

Eyre Peninsula SA
@swannysa

Sydney NSW
@jessedee

Sydney Opera House
NSW
@kar1981
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